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Statement by Chairman and Chief Executive

The 2006-07 year has been a successful one for the ESRC.
Most significantly for us as a research council, the research
community that we exist to support is in excellent shape, as
the examples in this report show.We continue to help to
sustain their efforts by ensuring that the ESRC is effective,
responsive and adequately resourced.

We believe that the quality of the research we support fully justifies
the sums of public money we attract. We were especially pleased that
the Chancellor of the Exchequer acknowledged the importance and
excellence of UK research in his budget speech in March 2007, and
that he confirmed the Government’s continuing support for the ten-
year Science and Innovation Investment Framework. The budget
announced offers real growth of 2.5 per cent a year in public spending
on research over the next Comprehensive Spending Review period. 

In common with our six colleague research councils, we await details of
our future financial outlook, which will be contained in this autumn’s
science budget allocation announcement by the Office of Science and
Innovation. We are sure that we have made a case for continued growth
in the resources available to the research councils. We have shown that
British research is of high quality by world standards and helps support
the most innovative areas of the UK economy.

The social science research supported by the ESRC is consistently first
or second in the world as measured by citations in leading journals.
We intend to maintain or improve this position in as many of the
research areas we support as possible. The UK’s high reputation in
social science research means that we are sought after as research
partners by other social scientists around the world. We now regard
ourselves as a global organisation, competing and collaborating with
other top social scientists on an international stage. Both in our own
right and in conjunction with the other research councils, via Research
Councils UK (RCUK), we are expanding our international activities
by increasing the range of research organisations with which we have
formal agreements, and by opening new RCUK offices in major
centres across the globe to build new connections for our research.

We wish to thank our colleagues on ESRC council and the staff of the
ESRC for their hard work during this year, especially Professor Fiona
Devine, who has just stepped down from her council membership. 
We note with sadness the death of two former council members,
Andrew Winckler and Professor Hadyn Ellis.

We are delighted to welcome our new chairman Adair Turner, Lord
Turner of Ecchinswell. We look forward to his contribution to the
next phase of ESRC’s development.

I am reporting here for the last time in my role as chairman of
ESRC. The six years during which I have chaired the council have
been a period of rapid change and growth. The ESRC is now much
larger than before. Its budget has grown from £73 million in 
2001-02 to £169 million in 2006-07. Perhaps more importantly, 
our priorities have been redefined in the extensive strategic review
that we carried out in 2005. 

As a journalist, I have been especially interested in the way the
ESRC communicates the excellent research it supports, and in the
important process which I have come to know as knowledge transfer.
I am particularly pleased with the recent launch of Britain Today,
which I hope will turn into a regular publication which makes social
science accessible to the public. In the same spirit, I am delighted
with the progress of the ESRC’s innovative website, which helps
bring the best in UK social science to a worldwide audience.

While the overall picture is a positive one, the ESRC and its partner
organisations face some difficult long-term issues. We should recognise
more distinctly the connection between excellent teaching and high-
quality research in universities. Good teaching is the ultimate in
knowledge transfer. It is essential to creating the next generation of
social scientists, and research councils should do more to encourage it. 

Another concern is the continuing decline in mathematical
understanding among young people in the UK. This issue has arisen
from my connection with the ESRC and was also a focus of my recent
term as president of the British Association for the Advancement of
Science. In 2000, 66,000 people took A-level maths, but in 2006 the
total was only 51,000. Mathematics is fundamental to understanding
the social sciences, as well as other areas of science and technology,
and to becoming a successful researcher. The UK needs far more
people who are comfortable with mathematical reasoning. I am
delighted that ESRC is supporting research on improving school
mathematics teaching, and hope that it will continue to play a part 
in solving this national problem.

My first statement as chairman of ESRC referred to the broad scope 
of the social sciences, their ability to help find solutions to many of
society’s most acute problems, and their potential to help change lives
for the better. I believe that ESRC is now better equipped than ever to
support the best social science research and ensure it is known about
and used effectively.

My time as chairman of ESRC has been enjoyable and fulfilling, and
the organisation which Adair Turner is taking over is well placed for
the future. I wish to thank the council members and staff of ESRC for
the commitment and hard work which have made our success possible.

Professor Ian Diamond FBA, AcSS

Chief Executive 
ESRC

Frances Cairncross
Chairman
ESRC
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I am delighted to have taken over from Frances Cairncross as chairman 
of the ESRC. During her highly successful time as chairman, the
ESRC has grown in size, influence and importance. It has continued 
to play a crucial role as the primary funder of social science research in
the UK, expanded its international contacts to encourage and support
British researchers in internationally focused research, and placed a
growing emphasis on knowledge transfer, ensuring that the insights
from research are disseminated to potential users in government 
and business.

The research which the ESRC supports includes some of the highest
quality social science in the world, addressing vitally important 
issues for British and global society. An increasing proportion of that
research crosses disciplinary boundaries, and an increasing proportion
has an international dimension. The ESRC has also played a key role
in developing the next generation of social scientists through its
studentships and fellowships, and has supported the development 
and maintenance of major databases on which much social science
research draws. Looking forward, our challenge is to build on 
existing strengths.

As a former chair of the Low Pay Commission and of the Pensions
Commission, I have been very aware of the need for a robust social
science research base to help deliver effective evidence based solutions
to the policy dilemmas which society faces. Excellent academic
research of empirical questions needs to be based on a sound
theoretical base: good policy thinking requires people trained in 
social science disciplines; and good statistical databases are essential.
In numerous areas of public policy – from education to social work,
health service management to pensions policy, criminal justice to
environmental protection – excellent social science helps provide
better answers.

It is therefore essential that the ESRC’s funded research continues 
to address the most challenging questions facing our society, and the
ESRC must be involved in a continual process of identifying major
research themes and priorities. The seven key research challenges set
out on page 19 reflect the Council’s latest definition of those
priorities. But it is also vital that the ESRC continues to fund
excellent research addressing fundamental theoretical issues, and that
it supports research which is intellectually innovative but falls within
no predetermined priority, provided only that the academic quality 
is excellent. As the ESRC’s funder, government has a right to ask for
outputs from social science research which helps government, business
and the voluntary sector address the pressing questions they face, but 
a space for academic inquiry for its own sake must be preserved, since
that inquiry will nurture the insights and capabilities which may help
address future questions not yet identified.

Whatever the issues which research addresses, however, communication
of results, knowledge transfer to potential uses or to other researchers,
is a vital criterion of high quality. Over the last five years, the ESRC has
put significant resources into encouraging researchers to ensure that the
implications of their findings can be understood beyond the ranks of
their academic peers. Our ambitious website, ESRC Society Today,
contains a wealth of material for the general public and the media, 
such as plain English accounts of the research we support and a search
facility to allow journalists to find an expert in any area of the social
sciences. In more traditional media, we published the first issue of
Britain Today early in 2007, and a second edition will appear in the
winter. This publication is intended to convey the value and excitement
of current social science research to a broad audience, and has been 
well received.

This part of our work will continue to grow in importance in future
years, and as someone who comes from a business background I hope
that in addition to maintaining our excellent connections with
government and voluntary sector, we will increasingly make connections
with commerce and industry, helping business understand how social
science insights can inform better business decisions.

During my time as chairman, the ESRC will, I am sure, need to
evolve to address new social science questions, and new challenges
facing the academic research community. But it will do that building
on great strengths inherited from the past, and on a strong enduring
commitment to the value of social science research as a vital
contributor to a successful and civilized society.

Adair Turner
Chairman
ESRC
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How can the UK meet the challenge of
achieving ‘low carbon lifestyles’? This was
the question posed at the launch of the new
ESRC Research Group on Lifestyles, Values
and Environment (RESOLVE). More than
200 people heard speakers including
environmentalist Jonathon Porritt, BBC
Newsnight’s Justin Rowlatt, and The Guardian
columnist Madeleine Bunting, debate how
sustainable living may be encouraged and
unsustainable living discouraged. 

How can we persuade people to live and
work in more socially responsible ways? Such
questions lie at the heart of the emerging

debate about achieving a low carbon
economy. Professor Tim Jackson, who heads
the University of Surrey-based RESOLVE
research group, commented: “There could
hardly be a more exciting and important
time to be launching this research group. 
At home and abroad, the threat of climate
change is finally beginning to be taken
seriously. RESOLVE is ideally placed to
provide policymakers with a robust evidence
base on which to encourage sustainable
lifestyles and build a low carbon economy.”

* http://www.surrey.ac.uk/resolve

Achieving low carbon lifestyles 

Delivering World Class Social Science

Britain Today

Policymakers
briefed on
genomics 

As part of the ESRC Festival of Social
Science, the ESRC Genomics Policy and
Research Forum hosted a briefing for
members of the Scottish Parliament, their
staff and other interested policymakers. 
The meeting provided Scottish policymakers
with a glimpse into the broad ranging and
important work being done by the ESRC
Genomics Network. Speakers discussed how
evidence is incorporated into policymaking,
how public engagement initiatives can
influence the policy process, and how policy
initiatives have unintended outcomes. One
presentation analysed how public views on a
controversial political topic such as stem cells
can inform policymaking. Another examined
how family history shaped treatment of heart
disease. In addition to formal presentation
and discussion periods, the event also
provided an opportunity for researchers to
mix with policymakers on an informal basis. 

* http://www.genomicsforum.ac.uk

“There could
hardly be a more
exciting and
important time
to be launching
this research
group.”

Social science researchers throughout the UK 
are currently tackling the key social and economic
questions that need to be answered to improve 
life in Britain today while also looking ahead at the
research priorities of tomorrow.

To build this knowledge base for improving life now and in 
the future, we support the highest quality research wherever 
it is found, using independent peer review to measure and
guarantee quality. Assisted by consultations with social
scientists and users of social science within the UK and around
the world, we have developed a research strategy based on a
series of key challenges.

The ESRC’s top-quality researchers are addressing the key
challenges we face: enhancing the performance of the UK
economy; succeeding in the global economy; energy, the
environment and climate change; education for life;
understanding individual behaviour; population change;
international security; and the complex interactions between
religion, ethnicity and society.

By pursuing this strategy, we aim to ensure that our research
counts locally and globally, over both the short and long-term,
in both current policies and on the way we think about 
the future.

Britain Today is a magazine showcasing the diversity of ESRC-funded
research around the state of the nation in 2007. It offers a concise
analysis of research and topical issues concerning Britain today.

“Britain Today is an excellent example of communicating how social
science research can make a real difference to people’s lives. The
magazine conveys how ESRC research is at the centre of some of
society’s most crucial issues and is directly relevant to people’s lives,
combining academic opinion pieces with informed journalistic writing
from well known and respected names. I am sure that Britain Today
will be read and enjoyed by those with an interest in debate and 
current affairs, social sciences and UK society.”

MALCOLM WICKS MP

Minister of State for Science and Innovation
* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/britaintoday
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Professor Steve Yearley and Dr Emma Frow from the ESRC Genomics Policy 
and Research Forum received an enthusiastic reception from students and
teachers when they participated in Food for Thought: A GM Debate – a pilot
project developed by the Scottish Science Centres with sponsorship from the
Scottish Executive. Held at the Dynamic Earth Centre in Edinburgh, a science
centre that focuses on earth history and the history of the biosphere, these 
one-day events were designed to encourage Scottish Highers students studying
biology to explore some of the social, environmental and scientific issues
surrounding GM crops. Professor Yearly and Dr Frow ‘expert scientists’ at 
the two events in Edinburgh, gave presentations to 30 students and were then
interviewed press conference style by small groups of students. Helped by
trained facilitators, the students also carried out biological and policy exercises
around themes of genetic modification and GM regulation. In the afternoon, 
the school students made their own policy presentations which Professor 
Yearley and Dr Frow discussed and evaluated.

* http://www.genomicsforum.ac.uk

Food for thought 

Corporate
governance
Ideas Factory

Researchers from the fields of accounting,
management, business, law and finance
explored the topic of corporate governance 
at the ESRC’s first Ideas Factory. Held in
conjunction with the Department for Trade
and Industry and the Advanced Institute of
Management Research, the Ideas Factory
brought together groups of academics in a
two-day residential workshop to debate and
explore issues with the aim of generating 
new and insightful research avenues. During
this the first Ideas Factory, participants were
encouraged to think outside their traditional
research areas and reassess the key issues that
impact on the topic of corporate governance.
At the end of the session, teams of participants
presented their research proposals to each
other for live ‘peer review’.

* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/corpgov 

Public services
on display

Initial findings from the ESRC Public
Services Programme and details of future
projects were presented to policymakers at
the Treasury through a novel poster display
and presentation. After viewing the poster
exhibition, delegates had the opportunity 
to quiz the Programme Director, Professor
Christopher Hood, and other researchers on
these findings and the challenges they pose
for policymakers. Introducing the event,
Permanent Secretary of the Treasury, 
Nick Macpherson, said that he welcomed 
the opportunity to deepen the Treasury’s
dialogue with the research community and
noted that the issues explored by the ESRC
Public Services Programme reflect the very
themes with which the Treasury is 
currently grappling.

* http://www.publicservices.ac.uk

“The students
also carried out
biological and
policy exercises
around themes 
of genetic
modification.”

New funding for disease research
Funding of £7 million has been awarded 
to ten new projects within the Rural
Economy and Land Use (RELU)
Programme. RELU is funded jointly by
ESRC, the Biotechnology and Biological
Sciences Research Council and the Natural
Environment Research Council. Six of the
projects bring together teams of natural and
social scientists for the first time to research
the management of animal and plant

diseases in the UK. Researchers aim to find
strategies for preventing and dealing with
these problems and will consider a wide
range of issues involved in disease outbreaks
including the effect of changes in the
countryside, technological developments,
increasing globalisation, and the part
played by public perceptions and concerns.

* http://www.relu.ac.uk
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Crisis
management

Issues ranging from aviation safety and the
Asian Tsunami to crisis management in
European governance and institutions were
debated at a joint workshop hosted by the
ESRC Centre for the Analysis of Risk and
Regulation, in conjunction with the Leiden
Crisis Research Centre and the Swedish
Institute of International Affairs. Participants
discussed critical intersections between risk
regulation and institutions, and capital
management. A clear consensus emerged
regarding the need for closer examination of
how crisis management contributes to the
development of risk regulation regimes.

* http://www.lse.ac.uk/collections/CARR

New research
on religion

A new £8.5 million collaborative research
investment on religion will offer faith
communities, policymakers, charitable and
voluntary bodies, creative industries, cultural
and heritage sectors and the general public
some practical insight into the role of religion
in society today. The ESRC Religion and
Society Research Programme, jointly funded
by the ESRC and the Arts and Humanities
Research Council, is designed to create
understanding of the role of religion in
shaping our lives and wider society.
Programme Director, Professor Linda
Woodhead, believes this research initiative is
urgently needed. “Theories of secularisation,
arguing that religion has all died out and is
socially and politically insignificant, have
clearly failed,” she says. “Rather, here is this
very, very, live force in western and world
societies yet people have not been researching
it adequately.” Issues under review in this
research programme include the role of
religion in both violence and peace-making,
the influence of religious beliefs on issues
such as religious identity, concepts of multi-
culturalism, and how faith and secularity 
can live together. 

* http://www.ahrc.ac.uk/apply/research/sfi/
ahrcsi/religion_society.asp

The Edge brings the latest and most topical
social science research to key opinion formers
in business, government and the voluntary
sector. Published three times a year it
highlights research currently being
undertaken by the UK’s leading social
scientists and demonstrates how social science
research can contribute to better policymaking
and, ultimately, a better society.

“Thank you for sending me the two
additional copies of your July issue of
The Edge (Issue 22). The subject of
‘belief’ is very relevant to our pupils’
religious studies and the issues that
they research and debate as part of the
English syllabus. The teaching staff are
using your insightful and accessible
articles to spark off some class
discussions and have incorporated them
in the cross-curricular projects which
we are planning for next year as part of
the revised curriculum. I have passed
my library copy on to the Head of
Religious Studies and catalogued one of
the extra copies to catalogue as part of a
project pack on Religious Issues. I have

already made use of your articles on Aging in
Issue 20 and Choices in Education (Issue 23) 
in similar project packs.”

RUTH FARR 

School Librarian
Glenola Collegiate School, County Down,
Northern Ireland.
* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/theedge

The Edge 

Evidence for excellence

The Local Authority
Research Council Initiative
(LARCI) and Swindon
Borough Council jointly
hosted a one-day conference
on the topic of Evidence 
for Excellence. Dick Sorabji,
Head of Policy and Research
at the New Local
Government Network
chaired the event, which
successfully brought
together local authority
research officers, academics
and key staff from the

Research Councils to
showcase excellence, debate
common issues and promote
future collaborations. Using
practical examples and case
studies, delegates learned
how local authorities,
LARCI and the Research
Councils benefit from
working together. For
example, Professor Julienne
Hanson from University
College London and 
John Barratt from the
Pocklington Trust 

explained how research 
on telecare systems is
helping older people 
to live independently. 
In masterclass sessions,
delegates learned more
about LARCI and how to
make best use of it, how 
to influence future research
funding priorities and how
to access Research Council
funding and commission
research.

* http://www.larci.org.uk

“The subject of ‘belief ’ 
is very relevant to our pupils’
religious studies and the
issues that they research and
debate as part of the English
syllabus.”
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Advice for
Competition
Commission

Professor Ian Clarke, Chair in Marketing 
at Lancaster University Management School 
and Senior Fellow of the ESRC Advanced
Institute of Management Research (AIM), 
was one of four academics invited to advise
the Competition Commission on its current
market investigation into the supply of
groceries by retailers in the UK. Local
competition is a one of the three key 
issues the Competition Commission is
investigating in its on-going deliberations.
Professor Clarke has experience of working 
for Tesco plc and has conducted an ESRC-
funded project on consumers’ experience 
of local competition. He is currently
conducting a large-scale quantitative study
of consumer choice as one of his AIM
research projects.

* http://www.aimresearch.org

Honours
for social
scientists
Professor Sarah Spencer was awarded a 
CBE for services to equal opportunities 
and human rights. Professor Spencer is
Associate Director at the ESRC Centre on
Migration, Policy and Society and head of
the programme on migration management,
where her particular interest is in migrant
integration and equality issues and in the
policymaking process. Professor Spencer is
Chair of the Equality and Diversity Forum,
the network of equality and human rights
organisations, and a Visiting Professor at
the Human Rights Centre, University of
Essex. Ruth Durrell, of the ESRC Research
Methods Programme, was awarded an MBE
for services to social sciences. Ruth is an
administrator at the programme which is
based at the University of Manchester.

A two-day colloquium on The Health, the Body and the e-Society,
organised by the ESRC e-Society Research Programme, featured discussion
and debate on the state of knowledge in the e-Health arena. Among the
presentations Professor Andrew Webster, national co-ordinator of the
ESRC Stem Cells Initiative, highlighted the 2006 Royal Society report:
Digital healthcare: the impact of information and communication. The theme 
of access to e-Health resources was further discussed by Professor Ann
Blandford of University College London who talked about her work on the
National Electronic Library for Health. The presentations provided an
opportunity for discussion and debate amongst an interdisciplinary group
associated with the e-Society Programme. More broadly, participants
discussed the nature of expertise and relationships between practitioners
and users. The internet means that for many people health and wellness
information is always global. Hence, one of the challenges for researchers 
is not only to map changes in their conceptualisations of health and illness
but also to understand how they shape and impact on the delivery of 
health care. 

* http://www.york.ac.uk/res/e-society

Debating e-Health
“The internet
means that for
many people
health and
wellness
information is
always global.”

How do we deal with the spread 
of HIV/Aids or avian ‘flu? Who
benefits from GM crops? Is there
enough water for people to survive
the 21st century? Today’s world 
is experiencing rapid social,
technological and environmental
change. But poverty and inequality
are growing. What new concepts,
methods and policy arrangements
are needed to respond to such
challenges? The new £3.8 million
ESRC Social, Technological and
Environmental Pathways to
Sustainability Centre (STEPS) a

global interdisciplinary
research and policy
engagement hub aims to
address these questions.
Based at the Institute of
Development Studies and
Science and Technology
Policy Research at the
University of Sussex, and
with partners in Asia,
Africa and Latin America,
STEPS is developing a new

‘pathways’ approach to
understanding the interactions
between dynamic social,
technological and ecological
systems. Says STEPS Director
Professor Melissa Leach: “To meet
the global challenges facing us now
new approaches are needed that can
properly address how rapid social,
technological and ecological change
interact in the real settings in
which poor people live.” 

* http://www.steps-centre.org

STEPS to sustainability 

“Today’s world is
experiencing rapid
social, technological
and environmental
change.”

Fishing livelihoods in 
Senegal / J.Edstrom
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Integrating
migrants

The better integration of migrants into the
UK was the theme of a conference organised
by the ESRC Centre on Migration, Policy and
Society. Representatives from government,
NGOs, academia and business met to discuss
ways in which the non-governmental sector
could be given greater support for the
important function it provides in supporting
the economic, social, cultural and political
integration of migrants. The speakers included
Joan Ryan MP, Under Secretary of State for
Nationality, Citizenship and Immigration,
Chris Melvin, Managing Director, Reed in
Partnership, Jack Dromey, Deputy General
Secretary, Transport and General Workers’
Union (TGWU), Trevor Phillips, Chair of the
Commission for Racial Equality and Maeve
Sherlock, CEO of the Refugee Council.
Participating organisations included the
unions TGWU and UNISON, business
organisations Employability Forum and
Business in the Community, and community
organisations b:RAP and PRAXIS. 

* http://www.compas.ox.ac.uk

An international benchmarking review of 
UK social anthropology identifies the UK 
as world leader in many areas. The review
concludes that the UK has been one of the
intellectual heartlands of anthropology and
that the quality of current work remains very
high. Social anthropology is popular at
postgraduate level, and has considerable
success as an ‘exporter’ discipline with
postgraduates actively recruited into academic
positions in other fields. The review further
identified many areas where social
anthropology has had an impact within 
the UK and beyond. For example, social
anthropologists have become key figures 

in human rights, asylum, and other justice-
related work. This benchmarking review,
carried out in partnership with the Association
of Social Anthropologists and the Royal
Anthropological Society, is the first 
in a series of reviews that the ESRC aims 
to conduct across the social sciences in
partnership with professional bodies and other
social science funders. The next review is of
UK Politics and International Studies and is
being carried out in partnership with the
Political Studies Association and the British
International Studies Association.

* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/intbenrev

International
benchmarking review 

The role of autonomy 
in wellbeing 

“Social
anthropologists
have become 
key figures 
in human rights,
asylum,and other
justice-related
work.”

The pros and
cons of baby
signing
Experts on the topical issue of baby signing
took part in a debate organised by the ESRC
Deafness, Cognition and Language Research
Centre (DCAL). The number of baby signing
classes, books, videos and DVDs is rising
rapidly with many arguing that it helps
babies communicate before they can speak.
Some also believe that teaching young 
babies to sign will improve their intelligence
and behaviour. However, others disagree
strongly, questioning whether it aids child
development and ignores the main purpose 
of learning sign language. At the debate, 
Dr Gwyneth Doherty-Sneddon from the
University of Stirling and Dr Gary Morgan
from DCAL presented views for and against
baby signing. Dr Tyron Woolfe, also from
DCAL, offered a deaf community perspective
on signing for hearing babies.

* http://www.dcal.ucl.ac.uk 

Is autonomy central to personal wellbeing? 
In Western countries, perhaps. But is
autonomy still key to wellbeing in countries
where people struggle to make a living and
value their ties with others over their ability
to go it alone? New research from the ESRC
Research Group on Wellbeing in Developing
Countries challenges conventional thinking
on autonomy. A study of people in towns 
and villages in Bangladesh identifies that
autonomy is indeed important to quality of
life. But gender makes a difference, with
women focused more on family relationships,
while men emphasise personal achievement
and recognition in the community.
Researchers point out that, rather than an
individual concern, people in Bangladesh
seek autonomy in collective ways. Landless
people, for example, have found that

organising together gives them more
autonomy from the dominance of landlord
patrons – as individuals, as family households
and as a social group. Autonomy, researchers
conclude, is important to personal wellbeing
but politics, society and culture make a
difference to the form it takes.

* http://www.welldev.org.uk

Anthropologist Marilyn Strathern, Papua New Guinea, 1976.
Photograph courtesy of the Royal Anthropological Institute.

Photo courtesy of Anne Yates,WeD
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Bringing local government and research closer

A closer relationship between local
government and the Research Councils is key
to securing better informed research, better
informed policy, and better informed practice.
This is one conclusion of a recent report
prepared by the Centre for Local and Regional
Government Research at Cardiff Business
School on behalf of the Local Authority
Research Councils Initiative (LARCI). The
report, A Strategic and Practical Partnership: 
The Research Councils of the UK and Local
Government, was commissioned to help 
LARCI develop its own way forward, and to
inform its own business plan. Based on a series

of interviews, coupled with documentary
analysis, the report addresses the following
issues: What is needed to develop closer
relationships between Research Councils 
and the Local Government sector? What
machinery or processes might be called for?
What initiatives should LARCI take, and how
should it change, so as to seize the opportunity
to help accomplish that mission? The report
argues that a closer relationship has great
potential for both sectors, and for wider public
value. It recommends that local government
and Research Councils should aim to ‘co-
produce’ knowledge. And they should do so

through appropriate local government
influence on the strategic research agenda in
order to make that agenda more relevant, and
through active knowledge transfer to optimise
the benefits to be gained from research
outputs. The report concludes that the recent
Local Government White Paper as well as
developments in the devolved territories help
to confirm that this is the right moment to
initiate a closer relationship and create a step
change in the value added between local
government and the Research Councils.

* http://www.clrgr.cg.ac.uk 

Strategic
partnerships

ESRC’s strategic partnerships with
government departments, devolved
administrations, research resource
organisations and the umbrella
organisation for the voluntary sector in
England demonstrate our commitment 
to the principle of engagement which is
one of the ESRC’s key drivers. We now 
actively maintain 18 of these agreements.
The partners not only share an
understanding of the context in which
both operate and the influences that affect
their organisational priorities, but also
they plan and deliver collaborative
activities. For example, the Scottish
Executive and ESRC have combined to
undertake joint research on demographic
trends in Scotland. A research activity on
spatial economies is being planned with
several government departments. Five
departments have partnered with the
ESRC to offer jointly-funded and jointly-
supervised doctoral studentships. Six
departments currently participate in the
public sector placement scheme whereby
academics spend up to a year in a
government department working on
defined projects that provide an evidence
base for policy and contribute to staff
development.

In 2006-07 the ESRC organised 15 public
policy seminars to tackle key public policy
issues such as changing household and family
structures, the impact of migration, tackling
health inequalities and identifying pathways
to participation. These lunchtime seminars are
developed in collaboration with government
departments, devolved administrations and
national organisations and aim to bring the
best social science concepts and evidence into
the policy arena and stimulate a discussion 
of how policy can be developed. The goal is 
to encourage evidence-based policy through 
an exchange between researchers and
policymakers. Each seminar is accompanied 
by a supporting publication which collates the

existing evidence base for the seminar topic.
Other key topics covered in 2006-07 seminar
series included private arrangements for
parent-child contact; faith based voluntary
action; demographic aspects of population
ageing; health and wellbeing of working age
people; employees and employers perspective;
ICT, social capital and voluntary action;
reducing re-offending in Scotland; wellbeing
for children and young people; localism and
local governance; waste consumption in
Northern Ireland; and young people and 
risk taking.

* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/
policyseminar

Debating public policy issues 
“The goal is to
encourage
evidence-based
policy through 
an exchange
between
researchers and
policymakers.”
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Influential
neighbourhoods

A multi-disciplinary team of researchers from
the ESRC Centre for Market and Public
Organisation has completed a major research
project on neighbourhoods and their possible
influence on the lives of individuals. The
work, funded through the ESRC Research
Methods Programme, uses a unique match 
of datasets to produce some new findings on
the influence of neighbourhood on income,
mental health, voting, political attitudes 
and employment. 

* http://www.bris.ac.uk/cmpo

Centres of
Excellence for
public health
research 

The major funders of public health research
in the UK have come together under the
auspices of the UK Clinical Research
Collaboration to develop a co-ordinated
approach to improving public health research.
Funding will support a number of public
health research Centres of Excellence in the
UK. The aim of these centres is to build
academic capacity, boost infrastructure and
encourage multi-disciplinary working in
public health research in the UK. The 
centres will bring together leading experts
from a range of disciplines working in
partnership with practitioners, policymakers
and wider stakeholders in order to tackle
complex public health issues that will
potentially have a significant impact on 
the health of the nation.

This joint initiative is funded by the British
Heart Foundation, Cancer Research UK, the
Department of Health, the ESRC, the
Medical Research Council, the Research and
Development Office for the Northern Ireland
Health and Social Services, the Wales Office
of Research and Development, and the
Wellcome Trust.

* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/ukcrc 

An ESRC and Department of Trade and
Industry funded Knowledge Transfer
Partnership (KTP) between Leeds City Credit
Union and the University of Leeds celebrated
an award-winning collaboration at the 
31st Annual KTP Awards Ceremony held in
London. The partners received an ESRC-
sponsored award for the ‘Best Application of
Management or Social Science’ in recognition
of the achievements of a two-year programme
focused on the development of a marketing
strategy for Leeds City Credit Union. 
The project achieved outstanding results
including: a 35 per cent increase in savings

revenue, doubling of staff numbers, doubling
of the number of savings and lending products
available to customers, and development of
the position of Leeds City Credit Union as 
a leading financial co-operative in the UK. 
The Leeds University Business School’s Credit
Management Research Centre worked closely
with the KTP Associate in Leeds City Credit
Union to deliver this strategy. Knowledge
Transfer Partnerships aim to foster innovation
and accelerate wealth creation by forming a
partnership between a knowledge base and a
company in response to a specific, strategic
business need.

Award-winning Leeds
partnership 
“Knowledge
Transfer
Partnerships 
aim to foster
innovation and
accelerate wealth
creation.”

Sustainable communities 

The development of
sustainable communities is
set to benefit from a joint
initiative between the ESRC
and the Academy for
Sustainable Communities. 
A number of independent,
high-quality, small research
grants will address a range
of priority areas relating 
to the development of 
skills and knowledge for
sustainable communities.
There are over 100
occupations that contribute

to delivering sustainable
communities and a range 
of generic skills such as
leadership, community
engagement, project
management, partnership
working and communication
are required. But studies
such as The Egan Review:
Skills for Sustainable
Communities (2004) have
identified a range of gaps
and shortages in the skills
and knowledge required to
deliver sustainable

communities. This research
initiative aims to inform 
the development of policies 
and practices aimed at
enhancing the skills and
knowledge base, thereby
helping to support the
creation and renewal of 
local communities that are
vibrant, prosperous and
attractive to live in, now 
and in the future.

* http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/
skillsforcommunities 
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An exhibition, ‘Sixties Fashion’, held at the Victoria
and Albert Museum challenged the traditional views 
of ‘swinging London’ and the permissive society. In 
this exhibition, Professor Christopher Breward and
Professor David Gilbert from the ESRC Cultures 
of Consumption Research Programme offer a new
perspective on London’s fashion landscape between
1955-1975 – emphasising its importance for the
subsequent development of the capital as one of
fashion’s world cities. ‘Sixties Fashion’ reveals the
influence of longer traditions of clothing production 
in the city, distinctive patterns of retailing and the pre-
existence of particular markets and subcultures with
specific tastes. For example, the legacy of aristocratic
styles produced for an elite market by couturiers in
1950s Mayfair had a demonstrable effect on the output
of Mary Quant in bohemian Chelsea. And Quant’s
subversive artistic approach was equally adaptable and
left its mark on the buyers of large department stores
and chains in Knightsbridge and Oxford Street.

* http://www.consume.bbk.ac.uk

An up-to-date view of 1960s fashion 
“Emphasising its
importance for
the subsequent
development of
the capital as 
one of fashion’s
world cities.”

School
choice

Affluent parents appear to be better at
‘working the system’ in order to ensure
their children attend the best schools,
according to new research on school choice
from the ESRC Centre for Market and
Public Organisation (CMPO). The CMPO
Working Paper School Assignment, School
Choice and Social Mobility looks at the
influence of school assignment mechanisms
on the chances of children from poor
families attending good schools.
Researchers Professor Simon Burgess 
and Adam Briggs show that even when
comparing children living in the same
place, poor children attend lower scoring
schools than their more affluent neighbours.
However, the most important source of
disadvantage for poor families is where they
live in relation to good schools, and it is
this problem that a well-designed choice
system should address.

* http://www.bris.ac.uk/cmpo

Improving 
older people’s
lives
A new £20 million joint research investment,
with the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Council, the Biotechnology and
Biological Research Council and the Medical
Research Council, will provide some answers
to the serious challenges posed by Britain’s
ageing population. On reaching 65, people
can now expect to live for another 20 years.
But this increased life span has enormous
implications for individuals, families and
society as a whole including major policy
issues such as pensions, employment, health
and social care. The New Dynamics of
Ageing Research Programme, directed by
Professor Alan Walker, offers policymakers,
professionals, practitioners, older people 
and the many UK organisations associated
with care for this group key insight into
improving the quality of life and health 
of Britain’s ageing population.

* http://newdynamics.group.shef.ac.uk

Low paid 
work

Is the picture of low paid work in Europe 
as bleak as that painted in the US by the
2004 Russell Sage Foundation project, 
Low Wage America? Researchers from the
ESRC Centre on Skills, Knowledge and
Organisational Performance, in association
with the National Institute for Social and
Economic Research, addressed this question
in one of five parallel European studies
commissioned by the Russell Sage
Foundation. Research teams in the UK,
France, Germany, Denmark and the
Netherlands explored how the institutional,
economic and social environment helped
shape the relative prospects for workers with
few qualifications. Findings reveal a high
proportion of low waged workers in the 
UK in all sectors except call centres. Many
workers are trapped within the lower ranks
of the labour market with few prospects for
escape, even if they have qualifications. The
next phase of this Russell Sage Foundation
project is a comparative analysis of the five
European countries involved and the US.

* http://www.skope.ox.ac.uk

Paper dresses, 1967, © V&A Images/Victoria and Albert Museum, London.
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Collaboration
with Regional 
Development
Agencies 

To boost knowledge transfer, the Office
of Science and Technology has made
increased funding available for two years
to all Research Councils and Regional
Development Agencies (RDAs) in
England. In each RDA partnership the
aim has been to contribute to regional
economic growth by jointly appointing
knowledge brokers or intermediaries
whose role is to work with businesses 
to identify how their knowledge needs
might be addressed by drawing on 
the social sciences. Each region has
chosen slightly different priorities and
different mechanisms to deliver agreed
goals. In the North West, the knowledge
transfer manager is based in the North
West Development Agency and draws
support from professionals in that
organisation to carry out her brokering
role. A similar arrangement has also
been established in the East of England
where the collaborating partner is 
i10, the consortium of universities in 
the region.

Competition proves uncompetitive
Initial optimism about the positive effects of
competition in newly opened utility markets
has been dimmed because many consumers
have failed to play a textbook economics role.
A large-scale survey undertaken by the ESRC
Centre for Competition Policy reveals that
electricity consumers are making poor
decisions when switching suppliers. At least 
a quarter of consumers who switch electricity
supplier to save money end up playing more as
a result, losing £15 a year (about six per cent

of their bills) on average. The centre claims
that consumers who switch to the ‘wrong’
supplier affect both their own budgets and
those of other consumers by giving firms
market power to increase prices. These
findings call into question the view that
consumer choice is an adequate replacement
for regulation in disciplining suppliers.

* http://www.ccp.uea.ac.uk 

Human Tissue 
Authority meeting
The creation of the Human Tissue Authority (HTA) by Parliament in 2004
illustrates the social and political significance of proper regulation of scientific
research involving humans. But this new authority faces a host of questions
about the ramifications of scientific institutions carrying out research. The
ESRC Genomics Policy and Research Forum, based at the University of
Edinburgh, hosted a one-day meeting involving policymakers, medical
practitioners, industry representatives and leading academics from across the
ESRC Genomics Network to discuss issues related to the HTA’s remit. Speakers
examined the context in which the Act was implemented, the relationship
between medical research and tissue banks, the use of consent, and how the
language of gift shapes tissue-banking practices. The meeting was designed 
to encourage participants to step back from some of the narrow debate
surrounding particular policy questions and discuss the broader social, legal
and political context of legislation and the regulations arising from it. Among
the ideas explored were: the inadvertent consequences of legal regimes of
regulation on medical and scientific research, the problems of consent practices,
and the mix of concepts surrounding our understanding of the human body.

* http://www.genomicsforum.ac.uk

“This new
authority faces 
a host of
questions about
the ramifications 
of scientific
institutions
carrying out
research.”

Collaboration on ethics
Professor Ruth Chadwick, Director of the
ESRC Centre for Economic and Social Aspects
of Genomics (CESAGen), and Dr Paul
McCarthy, CESAGen’s Research Council
Academic Fellow in Health Care Resources 
in the Postgenome Era, are the UK partners 
in the EU-funded Biometric Identification
Technology Ethics (BITE) project. Biometrics
is the application of technologies that make 
use of a measurable, physical characteristic 
or personal behavioural trait to identify
individuals for example facial and voice
recognition. The BITE Project is a unique
combination between academia, industry and

international organisations that aims to
prompt research and launch a public debate 
on the ethics of biometric technology. BITE is
co-ordinated by the Centre for Science, Society
and Citizenship in Rome. Dr McCarthy 
has given papers at two BITE conferences,
including one organised by the US Department
of Homeland Security in Washington DC.
Professor Chadwick is co-ordinating a bid for
biometrics funding under the EU Seventh
Framework Research Programme. 

* http://cesagen.lancs.ac.uk

Science and
maths
More than £2.4 million has been awarded to
develop a targeted ESRC research programme
on science and mathematics education. 
This funding follows a review of research in
science and mathematics education by the
ESRC’s Teaching and Learning Research
Programme. The initiative will focus on 
the challenge of ensuring that future
generations have the mathematical and
scientific skills required by the UK as a
competitive knowledge-based economy.

* http://www.tlrp.org
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Tax system
review 

The Mirrlees Review, launched by the
Institute of Fiscal Studies (IFS), aims to 
offer specific proposals for the reform of the
British tax system. The project was inspired
by the 1978 Meade Report, a landmark in 
the study of tax design and perhaps the 
most influential output of the IFS to date.
The Mirrlees Review, which aims to reflect the
changing environment in which tax policy
in the UK is currently conducted, will be
published in 2008 to coincide with the 
30th anniversary of the Meade Report.

The Review is chaired by Nobel Laureate
Professor Sir James Mirrlees and a core
editorial team, which also includes Tim
Besley, Richard Blundell, Malcolm Gammie
QC and James Poterba who will prepare 
a final report of long-term interest and
relevance to policymakers, academics and
civil society. The report will be aimed
primarily at the UK but will also be relevant
to other countries facing similar policy
challenges. More than 50 IFS researchers
and leading international experts will
contribute chapters, commentaries and
special studies on key themes of the research.
The Review is jointly funded by the
Nuffield Foundation and the ESRC.

* http://www.ifs.org.uk/mirrleesreview

The Scene: The Social
Sciences in Scotland

Scotland’s success has always been based 
on innovation, in every sphere from
banking to engineering. And since the
Enlightenment, Scots have known that
improving our knowledge of society and
the economy is as important as research in
science and technology. ESRC-funded work
provides insights into many topics that are
vitally important to Scotland’s future. In
November of 2006, the ESRC published
The Scene which showcased some of the wide
portfolio of research that might have an

impact on the Scottish political agenda and
make a contribution to the current debate.
The Scene was launched at Our Dynamic
Earth, in Edinburgh to a welcome by Diana
Wilkinson, Chief Researcher at the Scottish
Executive. Sir John Elvidge, Permanent
Secretary, made the keynote address on the
use of evidence in the policy cycle.

* www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk/thescene

The ESRC, Higher Education Funding Council for Wales and the Welsh
Assembly Government will fund a new £5 million research centre to study
bilingualism. Based at the University of Wales, Bangor, the new ESRC
Centre for Research on Bilingualism aims to create greater understanding 
of bilingualism across the world. Research will focus on the nature of the
relationship between the two languages of individual bilingual speakers as
well as amongst the wider community. The centre also aims to influence
public understanding of the nature of bilingualism and its social and
psychological effects both in the UK and abroad. In addition, by examining
language use in the classroom, the centre will also be of interest to school
language teachers and other language professionals who will be able to draw
on the findings to complement their teaching and enhance their
understanding of bilingualism.

* http://bilingualism.bangor.ac.uk

New bilingualism 
centre 
“Research will
focus on the
nature of the
relationship
between the two
languages.”
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As well as sustaining long-term commitment to existing
research, an essential part of the ESRC’s mission is to
extend the boundaries of social science research and 
to reduce the constraints that stifle innovative and
groundbreaking projects.

Through our Research Grants and Strategic Research Boards, we take
two different approaches in the long-term support of, and commitment
to, social science research:

� Responsive research schemes – providing opportunities to undertake
new research that is often innovative and cutting edge and identified
by an individual or research institution

� Directive research schemes – creating opportunities to commission
new research focussing on specific topics and challenging issues that
have been determined as strategic priority areas such as ‘succeeding in
the global economy’, or ‘energy, environment and climate change’.

Responsive research schemes
Through our responsive research schemes we provide a range of
funding opportunities which provide us with the flexibility to 
seize new research opportunities and provide support to individual
researchers at all stages of their career. These include our open date
schemes and a number of annual competitions including the
Professorial Fellowship, Research Seminar, First Grant and Large
Grant. Funding is for single and multi-disciplinary projects, with an
increasing number of applications at the interface of the social, natural
and environmental sciences. 

This has been an exciting year for the Research Grants Board, which 
is responsible for our responsive schemes. The first awards were made
under our two new research-funding initiatives, the First Grants and
the Large Grants schemes and the first cohort of Professorial Fellows
are coming to conclusion. We believe that the introduction of these
two schemes has further increased the flexibility of financial support
awarded to researchers and research institutions and is an appropriate
response to their respective needs.

First Grants Scheme
Starting out on a research career can be a daunting experience with
only a few published papers to your name – especially when it comes
to the competition for funding. 

Inevitably, researchers and academics at the start of their career lack
experience of managing and leading research projects. Obtaining
funding for research at this stage can be problematic without a
demonstrable record of past experience and success.

Our recently introduced First Grants
Scheme provides a ‘ring fenced’ fund
that is available exclusively for new
researchers in all recognised research
organisations. 

Governing drug-related crime in the risk society
As a result of receiving his First Grants award, Dr Toby Seddon, based
at the School of Law at the University of Manchester, is examining 
the principles and assumptions underpinning the Drug Interventions
Programme. This is a major government initiative that aims to use the
criminal justice system to identify drug-using offenders and channel
them into drug treatment.

Dr Seddon’s project began in January 2007 and will conclude in 
June 2009. Plans for the research include a documentary analysis and
interviews with key national and regional policymakers. The project
aims to contribute to existing knowledge about strategies for tackling
drug-related crime, as well as extending understanding about the
place of ‘risk’ in contemporary life.

Reflecting on the First Grants Scheme, Dr Seddon commented:

“Being awarded a First Grant has enabled me to really move forward
my own research agenda and develop my research profile. It’s meant I
can pursue the ‘bigger’ intellectual questions I’ve been thinking about
for a long time but never had the opportunity to explore properly.”

Early upward trend
Research projects may be up to three years in duration and entail
expenditure of up to £400k . During the first round of the scheme, 
we funded 28 research projects out of 151 applications. Following 
a streamlining of the eligibility criteria based on our first round
experiences, we received 167 applications by the January 2007 
closing date for the next round of awards. At the time of writing, 
the successful applicants had yet to be announced.

As an increase in the number of applications between rounds suggests,
the First Grants Scheme is tapping into a vein of need in the research
community. We are confident that the scheme will encourage
innovative new projects and contribute to the vigour of social science
research in the future.

Large Grants Scheme
Large-scale research projects that require funding for up to five years
now have a new source of funding through the Large Grants Scheme.
Successful projects are set to make a significant contribution to both
the UK and global social science research base.

Drug 
relate

d crim
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Commissioning of the first round of the
Large Grants Scheme was completed in
summer 2006. The Large Grants Scheme
is a source of support for experienced
researchers. It is intended for researchers
who have an established record of national
and international publications and who are recognised for the
contribution they have made in their field of study. The types of
project that this scheme aims to address are those that are beyond the
usual scope of our standard grants and are in the range of £1.5 million
to £5 million.

We received 23 applications and funded four that were considered of
sufficient merit to warrant an award. Commissioning is now almost
complete for the second round of the scheme and the Council hopes 
to be able to announce shortly the funding of a further three projects.

The four funded are: 
Corporate governance, capital markets and performance
This project at the London Business School is seeking a better
understanding of the comparative success of particular capital 
markets, such as those in the USA and UK, and their competitors.
From a number of perspectives, the project is addressing several 
broad questions about the nature and magnitude of current corporate
governance. The objective of the project is to improve the performance
of UK capital markets and UK companies.

The waste of the world
Until now, social science understandings of waste have typically been
nation-specific. This project at the University of Sheffield is taking 
a global approach to waste and is examining how places, people and
materials are bound together through the movement, management
and trade in waste. Comparative studies are being made of practices in
the UK, India and Denmark. Findings are assisting decision-making
about the appropriate actions required to address one of the most
pressing economic, political and environmental issues of our time.

An examination of the impact of family socio-economic status 
on outcomes in late childhood and adolescence
This project brings together a cross-disciplinary team to gain a better
understanding of: the link between parental socio-economic status;
parental behaviours in early and mid-childhood; and adolescent
outcomes and behaviours. By drawing on existing data of births in a
given location and over a given time period, researchers are examining
a wide range of outcomes, such as physical and mental health, risky
behaviours and school performance. The research at the University 
of Bristol is providing a better understanding of late childhood and
adolescence – key periods in young people’s lives.

A social and political archive for Northern Ireland
Northern Ireland Social and Political Archive (ARK) is an
existing resource, but is not an archive in the traditional

sense in that it provides a variety of services to maximise the use and
impact of social and political research. The ARK houses data on the
internet on: ‘the Troubles’; summaries of social policy research based
on Northern Ireland; results of social surveys; and facts and figures 
on Northern Ireland elections. The ARK based at Queen’s University
Belfast and the University of Ulster works with local academics to
help in the use of existing survey datasets and seeks to fill gaps in 
the research infrastructure. It also works with UK partners and
international colleagues working in the areas of Irish Studies, 
conflict resolution, political science and religion.

The Large Grants Scheme is based on open competition and we 
apply no restrictions on the nature of the social science research to 
be undertaken, the research facility, or who may be the principal
investigator (subject to the expectations of experience and profile
already outlined). This freedom and flexibility is intended to
encourage new and innovative research. 

Professorial Fellowships
Professorial Fellowships provide the recipients with an opportunity 
to pursue their research interests with more independence than those
offered by conventional funding mechanisms.

This year, the first cohort of the Professorial Fellowships, introduced
in 2003, are coming to a successful conclusion. As fellows, some of the
UK’s leading social scientists have been conducting research projects
without the constraints and pressures of administrative and teaching
responsibilities. There are additional benefits: the scheme enables new
researchers to work on the projects too.

As a result of the opportunities that the scheme opens up, fellows 
have been evolving their own innovative and groundbreaking research
agendas in a variety of social science areas by conducting research
projects that last up to three years.

Investigating economic forecasting
One of the original nine Professorial Fellowships was awarded to
Professor David Hendry of Nuffield College, part of the University 
of Oxford. During his fellowship, Professor Hendry carried out an
investigation in to economic forecasting, with a particular focus on
predictions that fail – and why.

The project came to an end recently and, following independent
evaluation, Professor Hendry’s investigation was commended as being
research of ‘outstanding’ quality.
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“The Professorial Fellowship invaluably enabled a
considerable reduction in my teaching and other
duties. This allowed me to pursue my research on
forecasting with renewed vigour, as well as increase my
dissemination of the results both written and in presentations” 
said Professor Hendry. 

The aims of the project were to:
� formalise a theory of economic forecasting applicable to economics

that evolve over time and are subject to sudden shifts, eg crises
� derive from first principles ways to improve forecasting performance
� build on the findings, improve forecast performance in an evolving

world and in particular, design forecasting devices that are robust 
to location shifts

� test the theory’s implications on various macro-economic data series
– especially inflation.

Professor Hendry used the fundamental tools of econometric theory,
statistical analysis and computer simulation to tackle the objectives of
his research. It was agreed that the project delivered some surprising,
yet practical, results that will benefit future economic forecasting.

Impact of Full Economic Costs
During the year, we have been monitoring the Full Economic Costs
(fEC) funding arrangements that are now in place for grants. Following
their introduction, there was a fall in grant applications, but we are
pleased to note that these have now returned to pre-fEC levels.
However, it is still early days to make long-term conclusions about 
the impact of fEC on demand and the cost of awards.

Directed Research
The ESRC, in its current Strategic Plan, has identified a number 
of key research challenges. Many of these have significance both for
the UK and the wider international community and create new
opportunities for ESRC-funded research. A significant proportion of
the Council’s budget is spent on supporting large-scale investments
such as centres, programmes, groups and networks in these identified
priority areas and we currently have over 50 such investments. Many
of these are interdisciplinary in nature and a large number are funded
jointly with other research councils or other partner organisations. 

The key research challenges are:
� Succeeding in the global economy
� Population change
� Energy, the environment and climate change
� Education for life
� Understanding individual behaviour
� Religion, ethnicity and society
� International relations and security

Competition for Research Centres and Groups
Research centres receive long-term investment and are

usually located in a single institution. They are intended to be centres
of excellence and must be committed to the achievement of key
research outcomes of the highest international standards. This includes
making an important contribution to the development of research
capacity in the UK and in demonstrating a significant economic and
social impact. Research Groups are selected via the same competition
as centres but for an initial period of five years.

We hold regular competitions for the funding of new research centres
and renewed funding for existing ones. Funding is substantial and
usually for periods of up to ten years. In recent years, this has included
an open element where applications are invited in any area of the
ESRC’s remit and a steered element where applications are encouraged
in areas that address our strategic priorities.

A step in the right direction
One of our new centres, which started work in October 2006, was the
Social Technological and Environmental Pathways to Sustainability
(STEPS) Centre. The centre is intended to tackle the challenge posed 
in how to combine environmental sustainability with better livelihoods
and health for people in developing countries. It is also carrying out
research to establish how science and technology can be harnessed in
the interests of prosperity and social justice for the world’s poor.

The STEPS research centre is based at the Institute for Development
Studies (IDS) and Science Technology Policy Research (SPRU) at the
University of Sussex. It brings together two leading research institutes
to create new networks and debates through the application of
interactive and interdisciplinary research. In addition, it is building
the capacity of a new generation of researchers, students and the users
of research data. The work of the STEPS centre is helping position the
UK centrally in a field that is rapidly expanding internationally.

Commenting on the ESRC funding award, Professor Melissa Leach 
the director of STEPS, said: “This funding is the culmination of many
years of research at IDS around the issues of environment, health and
development and at SPRU on science, technology and innovation. It
will enable us to create a new hub for the national and international
research and policy networks so badly needed in this area.”

Researchers at the STEPS centre are developing an interdisciplinary
‘pathways’ approach that is drawing together: development studies,
studies of science, technology and innovation; and theories of
complexity – across both the social and natural sciences. The pathways
approach is helping to develop new concepts, methods and tools to
inform policy and practices that make a vital impact on societies
throughout the world.
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Striking a balance 
Striking an appropriate balance between responsive and directive
approaches to the award of funds for research is an objective that 
we are always seeking to achieve. Without this, there is a risk that
exciting leading-edge innovative research in some fields could be
missed as they would not have fallen into one of our ‘headline’ priority
areas. So, in recent years, our competition for new centres has provided
support for proposals outside of the key challenges. Similarly, many 
of our responsive awards could be deemed to fall within the key
challenges but were funded on the basis of their scientific quality. 

Microdata
Recently, there have been a number of applications for new research
centres that would not have been submitted if the competition had
been too restrictive in terms of subject matter. An example of a
successful responsive bid for new funding of a research centre in a 
field that had been determined by the applicants is – The Centre for
Microdata Methods and Practice (CeMMAP ) – a joint venture between
the Institute for Fiscal Studies and University College London.

The centre is being supported for five years by an award of £3.1 million
and is using microdata to understand human behaviour and inform
policymaking. With an eye to the future, CeMMAP is also placing an
emphasis on the education and training of new and existing researchers
and users of microdata.

Tools are being developed and applied to extract information about how
people behave in society from non-experimental data. To achieve this,
researchers are recording the circumstances, actions and experiences 
of individuals, households, enterprises and other organisations that
influence society. Findings will inform policy in areas such as, education
choice, savings behaviour and housing decisions.

In its work, the centre faces considerable challenges. The processes in
which individuals are engaged are complex and dynamic – involving
risk and uncertainty. In addition, the outcomes of decisions made by
individuals occur long after they have been made. By addressing such
challenges, CeMMAP is building in the UK a major world presence 
in microdata research and training.

Research Programmes
Research Programmes are groups of projects addressing one or more 
of the ESRC’s key challenges. Selection is based on open competition
in response to a specification for the programme. Programmes are
designed to address medium-term social and economic issues drawing
on the skills and knowledge of a variety of disciplines. 

This year we have agreed funding for a new £8.5 million research
programme in conjunction with the Arts and Humanities Research

Council. The Religion and Society Programme is designed to create
understanding of the role of religion in shaping our lives and wider
society. During the year there have also been new waves of
commissioning in existing programmes such as the ESRC’s Rural
Economy and Land Use programme where we agreed funding for ten
new research projects. Six of these bring together teams of natural 
and social scientists to research the management of animal and plant
diseases in the UK. They aim to find strategies for preventing and
dealing with these problems and are considering a wide range of 
issues involved in outbreaks, including the effect of changes in the
countryside, technological developments, increasing globalisation, 
and the part played by public perceptions and concerns.

Research Ventures
The Research Ventures fund was introduced in 2004, to be available for
collaborative proposals which lie outside current ESRC funding modes.
The ESRC Ventures Scheme offers the opportunity to collaborate with
a range of partners willing to co-fund research programmes. During the
year we have agreed Research Ventures with: the Hewlett Foundation
on reproductive health; the Scottish Funding Council, Welsh Funding
Council, Department for Employment and Learning in Northern
Ireland and the Higher Education Funding Council for England on the
impacts of higher education institutions on regional economies; and
with the Medical Research Council, The Wellcome Trust and Cancer
UK for the creation of up to five ‘Centres of Excellence’ designed to
strengthen public health research in the UK.

The public health centres will bring together leading experts from 
a range of disciplines working in partnership with practitioners,
policymakers and wider stakeholders in order to tackle complex public
health issues, such as obesity and smoking that are likely to have a
significant impact on the health of the nation. Each centre will receive
up to £5 million over five years to build academic capacity by
establishing a range of new academic posts and strong training and
career development programmes.

Philander Beukes, asbestos related diseasesufferer, South Africa. Linda Waldman

Developing new concepts
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Strengthening the Social Science 
Research Base: Data and Methods

As modern society changes at an
ever increasing rate, researchers are
being asked to answer increasingly
complex questions, ranging from
how to succeed in the global
economy, to understanding patterns
of demographic change, through to
analysing and combating climate
change. Such questions are
international in their scope and
global in their reach.

To respond to these questions researchers 
need to have access to the very best datasets
and be equipped with the most advanced
tools and techniques. We have invested
heavily in developing UK data resources and
new methodological tools and techniques 
but more needs to be done. 

If the UK is to meet the research challenges
of the 21st century, we need bigger and
better datasets. Many of the UK’s existing
datasets were never designed to answer the
questions they are being asked today. They
lack the level of granularity which is now
essential to address some of the most pressing
scientific and policy questions. 

Over the last year, the ESRC has been
involved in a range of activities working
towards developing a long-term strategy for
improving and securing the UK’s research
infrastructure.

We aim to:
� Create a world leading data infrastructure

that will allow researchers to address the
key social and economic research challenges
of the 21st century.

� Maximise easy and effective access to that
infrastructure.

� Drive forward the development and uptake
of cutting edge methodological tools 
and techniques to improve the creation,
management and analysis of data resources.

� Promote the widespread exploitation of 
the data infrastructure across and beyond
the social science community.

� Develop and promote access to the broader
information resources that underpin top-
quality social science research.

Delivering this strategy is a major challenge
which cannot be met by us alone. The ESRC
is increasingly seeking to work in strategic
partnership with other key stakeholders 
both within and beyond the social science
community with the aim of building a co-
ordinated and coherent approach to developing
the UK’s national research infrastructure.

Working in partnership
By supporting the UK Data Forum the 
ESRC has played a key role in creating a more
coherent national data infrastructure. The
Forum brings together a range of organisations
including the ESRC, the Medical Research
Council and a number of government
departments, with responsibilities for the
development of data resources. 

During the course of the year the Forum
finalised the first version of the National
Strategy for Data Resources for Research in the
Social Sciences. The Strategy aims to provide a
coherent framework for the development and
maintenance of a robust data infrastructure,
ensuring that relevant and timely data are
available to inform and address future
research priorities. 

The Strategy identifies the data resources
required over the next five to ten years to
address key research issues such as the ageing
population, migration, globalisation and
child development. These challenges cut
across the interests of all the stakeholders
represented on the Forum.

A world class data infrastructure
The National Data Strategy met with early
success, supporting the bid we made to the
Office for Science and Innovation’s Large
Facilities Capital Fund to establish a 

major new UK Household Longitudinal
Study (UKHLS). 

With a proposed sample size of 40,000
households this will be the largest study of 
its type in the world. The volume and level 
of data collected will provide opportunities 
to study and understand some of the most
complex problems and issues facing society
today. Successfully establishing the Study is
one of the key priorities for the coming year. 

To further develop the National Data Strategy
the ESRC has been working with the UK
Data Forum partners to improve access to 
a range of administrative, commercial and
international data resources. During the year
the Council conducted an audit to establish
the scope, quality and potential that public
sector administrative data can offer as research
resources. While the audit highlighted the
potential of administrative data to inform
social scientific research it also noted the
barriers which need to be removed in order 
to exploit that potential. Over the coming
year we will establish an Administrative 
Data Service to work with government
departments and agencies with the aim of
trying to overcome these barriers in order to
improve the use of administrative data for
research purposes.

Maximising data access
The true value of top-quality data resources is
lost if they cannot be effectively accessed by the
research community. Data needs to preserved
and catalogued to leading international
standards. Innovative ways need to be found 
to deliver data to the research community. 

Following a major review, in 2006 the ESRC
renewed the Economic and Social Data
Service’s (ESDS) funding for a further five
years. The ESDS is a national data service that
provides access and support for an extensive
range of key economic and social data, both
quantitative and qualitative, spanning a range
of disciplines and themes. The review noted
that the service plays a central role in
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supporting and enabling high quality research
and training in the social sciences. During the
next phase of funding ESDS will continue to
place a strong emphasis on providing access to
a wide range of international datasets. It will
also continue to develop ‘added value services’
to enhance access to and use of large and
complex datasets, such as the new UKHLS.

Development of methodological tools 
and techniques
It is vital that the most advanced tools and
techniques are available to the social science
community to both collect and effectively
analyse increasingly large and complex social
science data resources. Such tools and
techniques form an integral part of the UK’s
social science infrastructure. 

To help maintain the UK’s international
reputation as a centre of excellence in
methodological development the ESRC has
invested in a new initiative on survey design
and measurement. This initiative is looking
at innovative ways to collect new data and 
to combat concerns over falling survey
response rates. It is expected that the eventual
findings will be harnessed to enhance data
collection strategies under the UKHLS and
other large and complex surveys supported 
by the ESRC.

Promoting the use of the social science
data infrastructure
There needs to be a balance between
sustained large scale investment in the UK
social science infrastructure and the provision
of resources to optimise its exploitation and
use. In order to achieve this balance the ESRC
must continue to develop the UK skills base
in both qualitative and quantitative methods
and ensure that new tools and techniques are
effectively promoted and disseminated within
the research community. 

In the autumn of 2006 the ESRC announced a
second call for proposals to its secondary data
analysis initiative, Understanding Population
Trends and Processes. The primary aim of the

initiative is to build capacity in secondary
analysis, promoting the use of large-scale
social science datasets. The second round was
aimed at improving our understanding of
demographic trends and processes which affect
the population, society and the economy, with
particular emphasis on ethnicity.

The ESRC’s Research Methods Programme
held it’s second highly successful Research
Methods Festival, in July 2006. Around 1,000
social scientists attend the four day festival
which hosted sessions on a broad spectrum of
topics across the social science disciplines and
across methodological boundaries. The festival
also provides an opportunity for researchers to
learn about new developments in methods as
well as an opportunity to network and support
new and early career researchers. 

Going global
As the scale and importance of global issues
increases, so does the demand for data to
support high quality research on these issues.
Under the auspices of the National Data
Strategy we have made major strides in
expanding the range of international resources
available to the UK social science community.

ESDS International provides access and
support for a range of international datasets. 
The ESRC has provided additional funding
for ESDS International, in order to renew its
existing data licence agreements with the
International Monetary Fund, Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development,
United Nations Industrial Development
Organisation, the World Bank and the
International Energy Agency.

The service promotes and facilitates both
increased and more effective use of
international datasets in research, learning
and teaching across a range of disciplines.

The European Social Survey (ESS) charts the
attitudes, beliefs and behaviour patterns in
over 20 European Countries. We have been
involved with the survey since its inception

and provided funding for the UK component
of the third round of the survey which took
place in 2006. The ESRC is keen to work with
its European partners to ensure the long-term
future of this Survey.

The need for access to high quality
international data has led to nearly 30
countries to work together and establish an
International Data Forum based on the model
of the UK Data Forum. We are taking a
leading role in organising its foundation
conference which will take place in June 2007
in Beijing. The conference will take stock 
of the current data resources that facilitate
national and cross-national research on issues
of global importance.

To support the establishment of the
International Data Forum and in order to
increase social scientists’ knowledge about data
available in other countries, the ESRC funded
four groups of social scientists to explore the
scope of microdata in Brazil, China, India and
South Africa. The reports note that in each of
these countries organisations are working to
increase access to their data, there are a number
of language, co-ordination, confidentiality,
legal and cultural barriers which need to be
addressed in order to allow the international
community to negotiate ways to effectively
share microdata across national borders.
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International Work: Maximising 
our International Presence

One of the key priorities of the ESRC over the next ten
years is to operate increasingly in a global context this
means we will be more involved in facilitating greater
international collaborative funding, supporting more
international comparative research, promoting greater
use of international datasets and the development 
of international comparative methodology while
benchmarking the quality of UK social science in an
international context.The ESRC’s strategic objective is to
maximise our international presence and opportunities
across the world.

Building international links
The ESRC’s international strategy sets out to break down barriers to
international researcher collaboration across the globe. To this end,
two particularly important visits took place in 2006, the first to 
China and the second to India.

In April 2006 ESRC Director of Policy and Resources, Glyn Davies,
spent eight days in Beijing. He was accompanied by former ESRC
Associate Director for International Strategy, Chris Godwin, now
Director of the Research Councils UK (RCUK) China Office, which
will have its official launch in autumn 2007. They held discussions
with the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and some of its
institutes, economics, trade, sociology and law, and the Chinese
Academy of Sciences (psychology, science and technology studies).
They also visited a relatively new national scientific funding body in
Beijing, the National Science Foundation of China, that is comparable
to the UK Research Councils.

The objectives of the visit were two-fold, to find ways to make 
co-working between the two countries easier, and to consider
particular areas where we might support joint workshops or
collaborative research. Visiting China was a valuable experience that
will help us to gain maximum benefit from the RCUK China office,
and the visit has helped pave the way towards successful collaborative
partnerships between UK and Chinese social scientists. Another large

step along this road will be the International Data Forum in Beijing
in June 2007, organised by the ESRC’s strategic advisor for data
resources, Professor Peter Elias. The lasting impression held by the
visitors to China is of the very genuine interest in greater collaboration
displayed by their hosts. 

Later in the year, similar openness and enthusiasm was encountered
during a visit to Delhi in which Glyn Davies was joined by ESRC
Council Member Professor Fiona Devine and ESRC Associate
Director, Ros Rouse. The broad aim of this visit was to meet leading
social scientists and funders of social science research in India to
explore how best to build upon the existing strong collaborative
activity between the two countries.

With the help of the British High Commission and the British
Council in Delhi, meetings were arranged with the Indian Council 
for Social Science Research, the University Grants Commission and
the Indian Medical Research Council. Other meetings included the
Ford Foundation and the Department for International Development.
The ESRC party also met with Abijit Sen, member of the influential
Planning Committee of India. Contact was made with many
individuals at important social science institution, including
Jawaharlal Nehru and Jamia Millia Islamia Universities, the Centre 
for Developing Societies, the Institute for Economic Growth and the
Delhi School of Economics.

Discussions were held with people from a range of disciplines, including
economists, sociologists, political scientists, anthropologists and
geographers. The ESRC’s key challenges reflected very strongly 
with those of the Indian academics areas of importance. Issues of
globalisation, global competitiveness, energy, the environment, health,
education, inequality and poverty were absolutely central to the
discussions, and several exciting new collaborative ventures are likely 
to arise as a result.

Through the insights gained during this visit, the ESRC International
Advisory Committee is well placed to consider how best to strengthen
collaboration between the UK and Indian Social Science communities.

Equipping UK social scientists for international research
Whether it examines global climate change, cross-border population
flows or the impact of new economic powers such as China and India,
social science research in the UK has an increasingly international
dimension. The ESRC funds resources which provide the tools,
training and access that enable UK social scientists to perform world
class international research.
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Through ESDS International all researchers affiliated to a UK 
higher or further education institution can access a wide range of
international datasets through its free web-based service. Since its
launch in 2003, over 11 thousand researchers from more than 170 UK
institutions have accessed its extensive data portfolio, which is funded
by the ESRC. The award winning European Social Survey informs a
different perspective, charting attitudes, beliefs and behaviour patterns
in over 20 European countries, and the annual International Social
Survey Programme, which involves 40 countries worldwide is able 
to add a cross-national, cross-cultural perspective to individual
national studies.

Gaining access to international data is not always easy. Even finding
relevant research amongst the vast number of publications in 
the social sciences is a time consuming process. The International
Bibliography of the Social Sciences aims to save researchers time by
listing over two million articles, books and book chapters from around
the world. The ESRC is also currently working with Eurostat (the
statistical office of the European Communities) and the UK Data
Forum to enhance the ability of UK researchers to make comparisons
across countries and regions. On a larger scale, some 30 countries are
currently working to establish an International Data Forum with the
aim of improving access to high quality international data.

The ESRC is working to improve the skills of researchers to put these
new data sources to good use. For example, we support five centres of
excellence to train social scientists in the languages and cultures of
China, Japan, the Arabic speaking world and Central and Eastern
Europe, including parts of the former Soviet Union. An International
Comparative Research Methods Initiative sets out to ensure UK
researchers have access to an array of methods to meet the challenges
of working internationally.

Ultimately, a better understanding of how different countries face
common challenges can assist UK policymakers in addressing similar
challenges more effectively. 

A joint approach to tackling poverty
More than a billion people worldwide still survive on less than a dollar 
a day, and 20,000 people die each day from preventable diseases. Anti-
poverty campaigners tend to highlight lack of political and financial
commitment from the richer parts of the world as key reasons for the
slow progress in dealing with one of the most intractable problems of our
time. Yet other, more subtle barriers arise from the fact that fighting
poverty is an extremely complex business, and policy interventions can
fail in their desired effect for a range of complex reasons. 

It’s here that social scientists believe they can help. Development
policies grounded in sound research and analysis can potentially avoid
the twin pitfalls of ineffectiveness and unintended consequences. 
Yet, to date, academics have often felt constrained in their choice of
research subjects, partly because funding has typically been linked 
to the specific requirements of Western donors or multilateral
international organisations.

To address some of these problems, the ESRC has entered into
partnership with the Department for International Development 
to fund research projects linked to the poverty reduction agenda. 
This £13.5 million scheme is now in its second year and is open to
international researchers. Research projects aim to use academic rigour
to drive real impact on the poverty agenda. For example, one of the
beneficiaries of the award scheme, Professor Ian Timaeus of the 
Centre for Population Studies at the London School of Hygiene and
Tropical Medicine, is working with academics in South Africa to
examine the complex relationships, population and poverty dynamics
and the AIDS epidemic. 

A further new funding partnership between the ESRC and The Hewlett
Foundation launches its first call for applications in 2007. With a
budget of £2 million over four years, this scheme will examine ways in
which population dynamics and reproductive health outcomes impact
economic growth and poverty reduction.
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Training: Strengthening our
Future Capacity

Most of the work of the ESRC’s
Training and Development Board
places an emphasis on the provision
of a strong well skilled base for
social science research in the UK.

The long-term health of the UK social
science research base is confronted by a
number of challenges, with some disciplines
even facing heightened threats to their
sustainability. To address the threats, the
ESRC has implemented strategies in several
discipline-specific priority areas with
interventions that will reverse the trends 
and strengthen future research capacity.

Through our Training and Development
Board, about one third of the ESRC’s 
annual budget is allocated to training and
development programmes for postgraduate
students and postdoctoral fellowships. We
also support skills development activities
across the entire ‘academic life course’
through such activities as the Researcher
Development Initiative. This includes
refresher training courses and skills
development for researchers at all stages 
of their career.

To gauge the scale of these activities, during
the year, over 700 new studentships were
funded and overall we have supported around
2,800 new and existing studentships. Over
the last 12 months, the ESRC has funded
close to 100 new postdoctoral fellowships.

What a studentship entails
Any studentship involves the preparation of a
PhD thesis based on research – a substantial
commitment in its own right. However, the
purpose of the studentship is to further
enhance an individual’s research skills,
knowledge and experience. The aim is for
students to become highly effective,
competent and professional researchers at the
end of a three or four-year training period.

Following a studentship, individuals:
� are able to decide what research methods

should be applied in different circumstances
� demonstrate a thorough understanding of

the theoretical context in which their
research is conducted

� are clear about the available background
literature in their chosen field of research

� can present findings and theories effectively
and in a precise manner to both academic
and non-academic audiences.

To achieve these outcomes students follow
accredited masters programmes that include
generic outcome and discipline specific
outcome requirements. The student’s
institution arranges recognised development
programmes that meet guidelines set out by
the ESRC.

An eye on the future
Our role is to look to the long-term future 
of social science research and maintain the
‘health’ of the research base. Therefore, we
fund people starting out on their careers to
ensure that in the coming decades there will
be a viable body of researchers who have
moved through the system with appropriate
skills, experience and knowledge. To
understand the needs, we reviewed the
demographic profile of the social science
research base to establish the causes of
shortages in particular areas. Shortages 
caused by, for example, retirement trends
outstripping the level of new recruitment.

The review and analysis of researcher
demographics was carried out in 2005 and
has helped us identify the particular shortage
areas that have subsequently become the focus
of ESRC funding. Seven of the 18 disciplines
that we cover have emerged as vulnerable 
to changes.

These are:
� Economics
� Education
� Management and Business Studies
� Socio-Legal Studies
� Social Work
� Language-Based Area Studies
� Advanced Quantitative Methods.

A foot on the ladder
As part of the ongoing development of
essential research and leadership skills and to
help researchers obtain their first grant after
their PhDs, we have introduced the First
Grants scheme.

First Grants provide an opportunity for new
career researchers to ‘cut their teeth’ through
the management and leadership of their first
project in a field of research that they have
selected. These are not personal grants, such as
the one-year grants awarded for studentships
and fellowships, but are for original research
projects of up to three years’ duration.

In addition to leading a research project, the
scheme offers a number of additional benefits:

� experience of preparing the initial case for
the project as part of a grant application

� opportunity to formulate forward plans for
a career in research

� experience of writing up the project and
findings as the principal investigator

� significant contributing factor for the
retention of new researchers.
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Quantitative methods: expanding 
the skills base

Beyond economics there is a need for more
researchers who a can exploit many of the
major large scale datasets which inform
research and policy analysis. To combat 
the current ‘quantitative deficit’, higher
studentship stipends are now on offer
alongside major training programmes aimed
at deepening and refreshing the skills of mid-
career researchers. We have also increased the
number of fellowships available. Whilst these
initiatives are only just beginning to gather
momentum, the early signs are encouraging.
For example there were double the number 
of applications for studentships in advanced
quantitative methods this year, spread across 
a wide range of disciplines such as geography,
politics and sociology.

Language-Based Area Studies: building
interdisciplinary research capacity

Five new Language-Based Area Studies
centres, funded by the ESRC the Arts and
Humanities Research Council (AHRC) and
the Higher Education Funding Council for
England have recently been created. In all,
over £20 million has been invested in
establishing the centres to try to fill research
shortages. The centres fund studentships,
postdoctoral fellowships and mid-career
programmes that focus on four countries and
geographical areas, China, Japan, Eastern
Europe and the Arab world.

Previously in the UK, research in these
regions has been weak. It is, however, essential
to have a better understanding of the countries
and regions in view of the significant role each
is playing on the global stage. The centres are
intended to provide cultural, economic and

political understanding so that appropriate
relationships are fostered, strategies are devised,
and plans are developed in the interactions the
UK has with the nations concerned.

Our emphasis on society, economy, 
politics, citizenship and human geography,
complements the AHRC’s concerns with the
culture, history, language and religions of
specific regions. With the AHRC, we are
building new research capacity and providing
training and development programmes in a
hitherto poorly represented fields.

In addition to training and development,
researchers need to understand the languages
of the countries and regions that they are
studying. This helps, for example, in reading
documents or in conducting local research. 
In consequence, development programmes
include extra tuition and exposure to the
appropriate language(s).

The centres are based in universities and
research institutions in the UK that have
strong connections with specific countries 
and regions. Institutions work collaboratively
with one another to ensure distinct research
expertise is brought together for the
collective good of the whole.

Clear ideas
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Prioritising
In consequence of the review’s findings, 
more studentships and fellowships have been
channelled into these disciplines, principally
through quota studentships. However, the
capacity needs of the seven disciplines are not
all the same; some require more studentships,
while others require more fellowships; still
others need more focus on research quality. 

Economics: a more attractive 
proposition

The field of economics, one of the seven
priority disciplines, provides an example of
the strategy for alleviating research shortages.
After qualifying, economics graduates who
opt to complete a one-year masters degree are
often attracted away from academia to take
up appointments in the City or public sector.
Paid employment is often chosen rather than
progressing to PhD training, particularly
under pressure to repay student loans. To
address drop out rates, we have enhanced the
stipend levels in Economics. These are now
£3,000 above the standard level of £12,500,
which we consider sufficient encouragement
for retention. Although there remains a
differential between stipend and first salary
levels, this measure appears to be sufficient
encouragement for retention of PhD students
who are serious about following a research
career. Despite the strategy having only been
in place for a little over a year, tentative early
evidence suggests that the measure is helping
improve recruitment and retention. In
Economics, nearly 80 per cent of students
receiving ESRC support continued on to PhD
training; an increase of 20 per cent on the
previous year. 
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Spotlight on one of the collaborative
partnerships
The Centre for East European Language-
Based Area Studies is a consortium
comprising the University College London
School of Slavonic and East European Studies,
Russian and East European Studies at the
University of Oxford and the Centre for
Russian and East European Studies, part of
the European Research Institute, based at the
University of Birmingham. The consortium
also works closely with a network of partners,
including the Universities of Bath,
Cambridge, Kent, Manchester, Sheffield,
Warwick and the School of Oriental and
African Studies at the University of London.

The centre is developing multi-disciplinary,
language-based research capacity around key
research themes. This is being achieved
through the ESRC and AHRC area studies
development programmes, workshops and
conferences – as well as engagement with the
user community and international networks.

By working together the universities are
creating a sustainable flow of highly trained
area specific expertise. The centre’s vision is
to set the UK research agenda for study of 
the region and inform policymaking – both
nationally and internationally.

The long-term aim of the Centre for East
European Language-Based Area Studies is to
become the leading global presence in the
study of Central and Eastern Europe.

Filling a gap
Potentially, there is a gap in researchers’
careers between gaining a PhD and
appointment to a first research post. Our
postdoctoral fellowship award programme
enables students to bid for an additional
year’s funding. This provides successful
applicants with an opportunity to write up
articles from PhD findings, undertake extra

research training, attend networking events,
prepare funding applications and build a
heightened profile. These activities are
intended to enable fellows to find an
academic post and join a research project
team. By bridging the career gap, we believe
we can stem the loss of social science
researchers at a crucial point in their lives.

Shift in responsibilities
The introduction of quota studentships 
has led to increased local devolution as,
institutions now recruit students directly,
rather than the previous system that was
centrally organised as an open competition
involving large numbers of applicants.
Responsibility for assessment and selection
for awards no longer lies with the ESRC.
Introduction of the localised selection process,
conducted on a face-to-face basis, is a more
efficient and effective mechanism for
identifying appropriate candidates for awards
and we anticipate that it will raise the
standards of recruitment. 

We have also increased the responsibility 
for pastoral care to academic institutions. 
Less reference has to be made to ESRC if
amendments to the studentship or fellowship
are sought and grant recipients refer directly
to their own institution if they have queries. 

This has eliminated the previous bureaucratic
communication process as concerns and
problems are now addressed locally between
either the individual’s supervisor or
administrator. Responsibility for grant
payment to students has also been devolved
to the institution that makes allocations from
an ESRC block grant.

Training: Strengthening our
Future Capacity

Eastern Europe
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As a result of the changes, from recruitment 
to submission of a thesis, students now link
directly with their institution rather than the
ESRC. This has given greater autonomy to
institutions and has enabled the ESRC to
concentrate its resources on strategies that will
reduce future research shortages. While still
sustaining and supporting other disciplined
areas, the seven disciplines at risk identified
by the 2005 review and analysis, have become
the principal focus of our revised strategy.

Extending public sector studentships
As part of the ESRC’s overall strategy for
knowledge transfer, we have been working 
in collaboration with the public, private 
and voluntary sectors in plans to extend
studentship schemes. During the year, we
entered into new partnerships with the
Department for Education and Skills and 
the Office for National Statistics. We also
extended the scope of studentship schemes
with the Department for Food and Rural
Affairs, the Department for Transport, the
Welsh Assembly and the Scottish Executive.

The impact of these plans and the resulting
increase in studentships will begin to take
effect from next year.

New opportunities 
The Library of Congress Scholarship Scheme
is run by the ESRC in conjunction with 
the Arts and Humanities Research Council
(AHRC). The scholarship is open to
applications from doctoral students,
postdoctoral fellows and research assistants
funded by the AHRC and ESRC. It provides
opportunities to access the internationally
renowned research collections held at the
American Library of Congress, in 
Washington DC.

Shanna Marrinan, one of the first people to 
be awarded a scholarship reflects on what the
scholarship meant to her and her experiences.

“The title of my PhD is Incorporating Gender
Consciousness into HIV prevention education
(sexual transmission) for Latin American
immigrants to the UK. The main
aims are to explore how gender
issues, Machismo and
Marianismo, affect the risk 
of HIV transmission for this
group, and the effectiveness 
of preventative education.”

“Whilst very little is known
about the rapidly growing
Latin American community
in the UK, in the US they
form one of the largest
ethnic minorities and US
research reflects this presence. In fact, the
Library of Congress has a dedicated Hispanic
division. During my time at the Library, 
I focused on a number of main themes, so
that my findings could be applied where
appropriate to the Latin American population
in the UK. Some of the areas I focused on
included ethnic health disparities, changing
gender roles in a broader context, self-
perceived risk, and protective behaviours 
and discourses around homosexuality.”

“Overall, I believe the study period was
hugely beneficial for my research, providing
me with unparalleled access to resources, and
contacts with scholars and professionals with
similar interests.”

Latin American Family

Latin American Immigrant

Shanna Marrinan
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Science in Society

Social science has an important contribution to make 
in bridging the gulf of understanding that exists between
science and a public which is increasingly intrigued by,
but tends to be suspicious of, science. Our research offers
many opportunities for engaging with and informing the
public on subjects important to the economy and society
in which we live, leading to a better understanding of 
the issues.We need to ensure that this research is
communicated as widely as possible and has the
maximum possible influence on policymakers, in
government, business and on the general public.

To make ESRC research widely accessible we employ a variety of
methods. We produce and promote corporate publications and events,
and encourage our researchers to communicate more effectively through
media training workshops and publication of a communications
toolkit. We undertake publicity campaigns, hold a bi-annual open
meeting, a festival of social sciences and public debates. In addition, 
we produce The Edge, a regular magazine highlighting our research to 
a general audience, run a monthly media campaign and have ESRC
Society Today, a unique social science online resource. 

ESRC Annual Debates
Choice in education was the topic under

discussion in the three ESRC Annual Debates
2006 held in Belfast, Cardiff and London.

BBC Education Correspondent, Mike Baker,
chaired the London event and asked the

panel: is it possible to devise a choice
system in education that does not

advantage one group over another?
Melissa Benn, writer and journalist,

responded that choice in education
is merely selection by more murky

means. Professor Stephen Bell, Karl
Mannheim Professor of Sociology at the Institute

of Education, warned the audience that choice in
education is often a negative rather than

positive choice, focusing on rejection, exclusivity
and avoidance, with the obvious consequence of
social segregation. Professor Simon Burgess, 
Director of the ESRC Centre for Market and Public
Organisation, provided evidence of the impact of
choice from an economic perspective explaining that
it has only raised standards a little in the UK. 

Do parents in fact want to choose their children’s school? Professor
Burgess replied that the evidence is clear: already in England, less than
half of children attend their nearest school and in London that figure
drops to 27 per cent. A random, lottery-based system may prove the
fairest admissions system but, as audience and panellists agreed,
however fair the system, there will always be someone willing to play
it. A mixed audience of politicians, civil servants, teachers and parents
held similarly stimulating debates on this topic in Cardiff and Belfast.
Maria Eagle MP, Minister for Education, Northern Ireland Office,
joined other speakers at the Belfast event including Professor Sir
George Bain, Chair, Independent Review of Education, and Professor
Alan Smith, University of Ulster.

Raising awareness of anthropology
The ESRC has agreed partial funding over three years to assist the
Royal Anthropological Institute (RAI) in the
development of its Educational Programme.
The aim of this partnership is to create a
sustainable, long-term education programme
in anthropology designed for pre-university
students while supporting the ESRC’s
strategy of increasing engagement with
schools and young people to raise awareness
of social science. The RAI’s Education
Programme will develop a new school
curriculum and raise awareness of
anthropology as a social science subject,
using events such as the ESRC Festival of
Social Science to reach a wider audience. 

Crisis debate
Are you concerned that a bird flu pandemic is just around the corner?
Do you trust what the Government tells you on high profile health
issues such as the safety of the MMR injection? Did you feel fully
informed during the foot and mouth outbreak? These were some of
the topical questions explored at the ESRC debate held during the
British Association for the Advancement of Science Festival in
September 2006. Experts examined some of the topical scientific
issues which hit the headlines and discussed how the media, scientists
and policymakers deal with them. Speakers included Dr Ian Gibson

MP, Norwich North, former Chair, Science and
Technology Select Committee, Mike Grannatt, former
Director General of the Government Information 
and Communication Service and Brigitte Nerlich,
Research Fellow, Institute for the Study of Genetics,
Biorisks and Society, University of Nottingham. 

Royal Anthropological Society, ‘The
Art of Remembering: photography,
art and anthropology’. Katy Merritt.
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Michael Young Prize
July 2006 saw the first Michael Young
Prize awarded to Dr Diana Burman for
research that helped her to develop a
highly successful method to teach
profoundly deaf children English literacy.
The method uses morphemes, the smallest
units in English grammar, to teach
spelling of English words. The Michael
Young Prize was devised by the ESRC and Young Foundation to
encourage and reward early career researchers whose work offers
genuine new insights and is likely to have a policy or practice
application beyond the academic community. The winner receives
£5,000 to help disseminate their work. There are two runners up
prizes worth £500 each. Diana Burman’s research has generated much
interest and in the last year she has talked about her research on BBC
Radio 4’s Woman’s Hour and contributed to conferences in the UK 
and abroad.

ESRC Festival of Social Science
Now in its fifth year the ESRC Festival of Social Science (formerly
known as Social Science Week) is steadily increasing in popularity.

The Festival now takes place in March to
coincide with National Science and Engineering
Week and this year featured more than 70
ESRC-funded events, 70 per cent of which were
located outside London including events in
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Events

ranged from conferences to workshops and debates, exhibitions, film
screenings, plays, policy briefings and much more. The Festival offers
free activities for everyone from politicians to the general public with
the aim of illustrating to all the diversity of the social sciences and
how social science research makes a difference to everyone’s lives. 
The launch of the Festival in London included guest speaker Malcolm
Wicks MP, Minister of State for Science and Innovation and also
showcased the new ESRC publication, Britain Today.

Young people ask the questions
Three different locations in the UK –
Glasgow, Newcastle and Brighton –
hosted the second annual A-level/
Higher debates held during the ESRC
Festival of Social Science. These events
offered young people the opportunity to
debate how far they view their portrayal

in the media as an accurate representation of the majority of
young people today. Each debate, chaired by a student union
president, included guest speakers from the local police force,
an ESRC-funded social science researcher and a local youth
worker. Schools offered a very positive response with over 100
students attending each event. Questions and comments from
the young people were well articulated and demonstrated that
they were both aware of, and concerned about, not only their
portrayal in the media but the state of local political affairs.

The ESRC provided student ‘fact’ sheets and teacher resource sheets
offering statistics and information based on both government
publications and ESRC-funded research into youth. A short video 
of each event will be made available on our website Society Today
for downloading.

Visualising social identity and action
Researchers from the ESRC Identities and Social
Action research programme are working with
photographer Chris Clunn to explore and reflect
on what it means to research social identities
and action in the early 21st century. Seven
projects led by Dr Tim Strangleman, Dr Ben
Rogaly and Dr Becky Taylor, Professor Jane
Wills, Dr Deborah Sporton and Professor
Gill Valentine, Professor Rachel Thomson
and Dr Mary Jane Kehily, Dr Dominic
Bryan and Professor Joanne Hughes are
involved in this initiative. Chris Clunn
has been embedded within these
project teams and has photographed subjects
as varied as council estates in Norwich, redundant steel
workers in South Wales and communities in Northern Ireland. 
http://www.identities.org.uk

Dr Diana Burman

‘Visualising identities and social

action: lives in Britain today’. 

‘Youth – a waste of space?’ 
St James Park, Newcastle.
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Knowledge Transfer

In the past few years the focus 
of utilising the output of ESRC-
funded research has changed 
from dissemination to application,
utilisation, knowledge transfer and
impact generation.

Knowledge transfer’s highlights in the year
have included the introduction of new
schemes and greater achievements with
existing schemes especially increasing the
percentage of Knowledge Transfer
Partnerships based in business settings.

Using knowledge brokers, the ESRC has
increased its engagement with business,
forming partnerships with four Regional
Development Agencies, to better identify
regional business needs.

The ESRC continued to develop its
partnerships with central Government
departments and devolved administrations.
Topical policy issues were addressed in 15
policy seminars, and we published The Scene,
a magazine showcasing social sciences 
in Scotland.

Knowledge transfer:
through people
Collaborations between
researchers, businesses, the
public sector and voluntary
organisations on projects of mutual interest
are one of the most effective mechanisms 
for knowledge transfer.

Development of the ‘knowledge economy’ 
in the UK is recognised as the means for
securing competitive advantage that, in 
turn, contributes to the social and economic 
wellbeing of the nation. Interdependence
between knowledge and practice is a 
necessity if a knowledge economy is to
function effectively, and it involves a process
of knowledge translation, transformation 
and engagement.

Through networking and by acting as
brokers, we have increased the scope of
collaboration during the year in order to
build strategic research alliances with a 
range of organisations. Our activities have
provided opportunities for individual
researchers, universities and research centres
to collaborate directly with stakeholders
across all sectors in projects that relate to
their particular interests.

Schemes involve researchers working directly
with organisations over extended periods and
also dissemination of research findings
through workshops, conferences and other
networking events.

These include:
� Placement Fellowship Scheme
� Collaborative Awards in Science and

Engineering
� Shell Step programme
� Knowledge Transfer Partnerships
� Impact Grants Scheme

Placement Fellows Scheme
Launched in February 2006,

the Placement Fellows Scheme
has provided researchers with an opportunity
to work closely with a host organisation for
three to 12 months on projects that have been
jointly agreed by all parties. Following the
success of collaborations with public bodies
the scheme has been extended into the
business-world.

During the year and in two rounds, seven
government departments hosted Fellows
including: the Prime Minister’s Strategy Unit
(PMSU); the Department for Environment,
Food and Rural Affairs (Defra); the Office for
the First Minister in Northern Ireland; the
Home Office; the Audit Commission; the
Department for Trade and Industry; and the
Department for Work and Pensions.

In all, 11 fellows have taken up placements
and a variety of projects have been
undertaken. For example:

� Dr Dirk Haubrich of the University of
Oxford joined the PMSU to investigate
local authority performance assessment and
to identify potential improvements in the
reliability, validity and usability of the
Comprehensive Performance Assessment
framework.

� Dr David Pevalin of the University of Essex
took up a placement with the Home Office
exploring drivers of confidence in the
Criminal Justice System within specific
segments of the population.

� Three fellows at Defra are investigating
issues ranging from good practice in public
engagement, to the department’s approach
to evidence-based policy.
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Collaborative Awards in Science 
and Engineering
One of the largest of the ESRC’s knowledge
transfer programmes; the Collaborative
Awards in Science and Engineering (CASE)
Studentship scheme encourages interaction
between academia and public, private and
voluntary organisations. While undertaking
their doctorates, award winners gain from 
the experience of carrying out collaborative
research projects outside an academic
environment. Financial support from the
ESRC and the collaborating organisation is
provided for the PhD students.

During the year, 67 per cent of CASE
studentships took place in the public sector,
12 per cent in the private sector and 21 per
cent in the voluntary sector. The ongoing
objective now is to raise the level of future
CASE Studentships with business to 25 per
cent of the overall awards total.

Joint ESRC and departmental
collaborative studentships
This scheme encourages interaction between
academia and the public sector through the
successful completion of a collaborative
studentship. Host departments in 2006-07
included Department for Transport;
Department for Work and Pensions; Welsh
Assembly Government; Scottish Executive;
and Department for Environment, Food and
Rural Affairs.

Studentships are jointly supervised by 
the academic institution and host
department and provide the
student with the opportunity
to undertake policy relevant
research, to develop research
capacity and provide high
quality research-based evidence
for the host department.

Topic areas are wide ranging and look at
issues as varied as urban intensification and
car-free living; environmental attitudes and
behavioural change; and a study of older
people living in rural areas.

Shell Step Placement scheme 
Shell Step is a well established national
student placement scheme that has been
shown to give substantial benefits to small to
medium size enterprises (SMEs). It provides
small businesses with access to high-calibre
undergraduates who work on key development
projects. Placements usually take place during
the summer prior to a student entering his or
her final year at university.

Since its inception in 1986, over 20,000
placements have been completed and the
Lambert Review of collaborative activity
between businesses and universities promoted
Shell Step as an exemplar of good practice.

During the year, the ESRC established a pilot
scheme with the Shell Step initiative. Ten
social science undergraduates were sponsored
and undertook eight-week placements with
SMEs from two diverse regions:
Yorkshire and Humberside and
the East of England.

Maximising the benefits of IT
Hayley Nash, a second year psychology
student from the University of Northumbria,
joined Space Lettings for her Shell Step
placement. The aim of the placement was 
to maximise the business benefits of a new,
sophisticated database called ‘WinMan’ to
generate property lists, press advertisements,
window cards and customised letters such as
reference requests.

The placement has given Hayley a valuable
insight into business and confidence in her
abilities to plan, implement and complete a
task on schedule. Space Lettings saved time
on general administration, putting relevant
information at the fingertips of all the staff.
Haley has now been recruited for the rest of
the summer.
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Knowledge Transfer

Knowledge Transfer Partnerships
The Knowledge Transfer Partnership (KTP)
scheme is a major initiative that ESRC funds 
as part of our commitment to knowledge
transfer. The scheme’s mission is to
strengthen the competitiveness and wealth
creation of the UK by enabling research
organisations to apply their knowledge to
the challenges faced by business. During
the year we have been supporting 44
new and existing KTPs, the majority
of which last for two years.

At the heart of each KTP is a
relationship between a partnering
organisation, or business, and
staff in a knowledge base

institution who apply their expertise to
a project that is central to the development 
of the partner. Projects are carried out by
KTP Associates recent graduates or
postgraduates, who also benefit from
organised training programmes.

KTPs are managed by a contracted company,
Momenta, and the majority of the funding 
for the KTP scheme, is from the Department
for Trade and Industry, although the ESRC 
is also one of the main contributors. Other
funders include Invest NI, the Welsh
Assembly Government, the Scottish
Executive and other Research Councils. 
In addition to the grant, the participating
partner also contributes financially to each
project. During the year, we contributed 
£1.1 million to the scheme and 31 new 
KTP Associates were appointed.

Enhancing bus driving standards and
embedding a culture of safety
Arriva Passenger Services Limited has been
working in partnership with Cranfield
University in a nine-year KTP employing
three research associates, each for three years.

The aim of the research programme has 
been to reduce accident rates by designing 
a psychometric test for driver accident risk
assessment profiling, designing a bus driving
simulator for training novice drivers, and to
deliver new training and recruitment
practices that would have an impact on
organisational culture.

So far, a prototype bus driving simulator has
been developed for training purposes that is
the first of its kind in the UK and there has
been over £1million reduction in insurance
claim costs as the accident rate has fallen. 

Commenting on the project, Dr Lisa Dorn,
based in the School of Engineering at
Cranfield University said, “The KTP 
has benefited the university’s research by
facilitating a programme of activity in an 
up till now little understood field. A niche
research portfolio has been developed that is
unprecedented in the UK and we have also
set up the Driving Research Group. In
addition, the project has provided the basis 
of ongoing research with other driver groups.
This has led to two major commercial
contracts using a similar approach to that
refined during the KTP.”

In the early stages of the project, Arriva and
Cranfield were awarded the International
Prince Michael Award for Road Safety in
recognition of their work to improve safety
and driving standards.

Impacts Grant Scheme
Launched as a pilot in February 2006, our
Impacts Grants are designed to enable award
holders to generate new activity that has a
high level of user engagement and collect
new evidence that demonstrates the impact 
of their research. The scheme is intended 
to highlight the importance of creating an
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impact for the research investments made by
the ESRC and to draw attention to new and
existing web-based resources. Depending on
the scale and staffing needs of the intended
impact activity, two categories of awards 
are made: up to £10 thousand and up to 
£50 thousand.

In the pilot round, nine grant applications
were received and seven were awarded. In 
the second round in early autumn 2006, 
just under half the submissions were funded.
Currently, in the third round of grants, 
22 applications are being assessed.

The World Bank doctoral research and
policy engagement consultation
The Centre for the Study of Globalisation and
Regionalisation at the University of Warwick
carried out a five-month dissemination
programme about the outcomes of research
concerning the activities of the World Bank.

Research involved direct contact with the
World Bank and major policy networks with
bank connections.

Jean-Christophe Bas, Development Policy
Dialogue Manager of the World Bank, based in
Paris said, “The World Bank is eager to explore
and review constantly what policy and projects
work, what doesn’t and why, and what we are
not sure about. This project provides us with a
unique opportunity to hear the conclusions of
students and researchers on critical linkages
and challenges related to development and to
the work of the World Bank.”

Public affairs activities
We are the sponsors of the Parliamentary 
All-Party Group on ‘Social Science and
Policy’ during the year have held six briefings
for MPs and members of the House of Lords.
The briefings are intended for those with an

interest in particular policy areas, such as:
‘Britain’s national security: Is Trident our
only option?’; ‘Deportations and removals’;
‘Nuclear waste disposal’ and also in the
energy field, ‘What happens when the lights
go out?’

We have also published the first in a series 
of Parliamentary Briefing Notes on issues 
of current and topical interests, including
ageing and public services.

Networking opportunities
The ESRC and the researchers that we fund
regularly engage with a wide range of
organisations, such as the Confederation 
of British Industry, National Council for
Voluntary Organisations and Regional
Development Agencies. In conjunction with
many of these organisations, we have arranged
briefings, consultations, events, meetings,
workshops, presentations and seminars. We
also offer membership schemes for individuals
who have an interest in social science research
and fund networking
programmes that are
designed to focus on the
wealth of research taking
place throughout the UK.
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Making Headlines 2006-07

During 2006-07 the Council ran 16 media
training courses, enabling 236 researchers
ranging from PhD students, researchers
working in ESRC’s programmes and
centres through to senior academics,
to develop the skills to communicate
professionally with the numerous media
outlets available to disseminate research 
to business, policymakers and the general
public. During the year, the ESRC also
undertook a review of the media training
the Council offers to ensure that going
forward we are able to provide a range of
courses supporting researchers at every
stage of their career from early career
researchers through to Professorial fellows.

“The ESRC ‘Senior Researchers’ training 
and ‘Project Team’ training have been of
enormous importance to me, providing
invaluable preparation for an unexpected 
and intense period of media coverage of our
project. Armed with the skills provided by
the media training, and backed up by the
continuous support of the ESRC’s
Communications team, I felt well prepared
to take control of interview situations and
shape both the content and delivery of
interviews in a wide range of contexts. These
ranged from Brazilian, Polish and English
TV and Canadian, Colombian, New Zealand,
and Austrian radio, and perhaps the greatest
challenge of all: John Humphries on the
Today programme, to interviews for national
and local newspapers. The excellent training
in interview skills and press release
preparation, through practice combined 
with expert feedback, also made us all feel
well prepared to respond to hard-hitting
inquires from sources beyond the media: 
an additional bonus when researching a
sensitive topic. In addition, the Project 
Team training played an important part in
the process of consolidating a research team
which is working across three universities 
in 15 research sites, allowing for the
development of shared understandings 
at a crucial early stage in the project.”

Elizabeth Atkinson, Principal Investigator,
‘No Outsiders: Researching approaches to
sexualities equality in primary schools’.

THE OBSERVER
Researchers on the ‘No outsiders’ project are
working with a team of primary school teachers to
develop ideas and resources to address lesbian, gay,
bisexual and transgender equality in their own
schools and their communities. 

THE TIMES
Research by Professor Trevor Bennett and Professor
Fiona Brookman, at the University of Glamorgan
was much quoted in the media in connection 
with the verdict in the trial of the two killers of 
Tom ap Rhys Pryce. The research found that street
robbers often carry out their vicious attacks for kicks. 
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THE OBSERVER
The New Dynamics of Ageing Programme.

THE HERALD
The ESRC’s Genomics Policy and Research
Forum provided an opportunity for experts to
discuss ways to tackle the threat of bioterrorism. 

The Advanced Institute of Management Research deputy
director Andy Neely commenting on performance analysis 
and management. 

A study carried out by the
Institute for Social and
Economic Research found
that forcing teenagers to
stay on in school until the
end of the summer term,
rather than allowing them
to leave once they turned
16 increased the likelihood
they would stay on in 
full-time education by 
12 per cent. 

THE DAILY TELEGRAPH
The ESRC’s former Chairman, Frances Cairncross speaking at
the British Association Festival in September 2006. 



37

ESRC Society Today

Many of the challenges facing us in
the 21st century are social science
issues, across a global landscape in
which the distinctions between
knowledge, information and data 
are becoming increasingly blurred.

ESRC Society Today brings together a
range of content and resources to
allow social scientists and the people 
who rely on their research, to better
map the information environment in
the social sciences and allow them
to track and find the information
they need.

Giving Social Science a Voice 
The impact of economics and the social
sciences, on today’s society as a whole, is often
taken for granted. The ESRC Society Today
service, launched in May 2005, represents 
a prominent public vehicle for the ESRC 
to communicate its ongoing commitment 
to promoting excellence in social science
research. It allows ESRC to demonstrate just
how this excellence contributes to today’s
society, thereby giving social science a voice
and providing a first port of call for anyone
interested in the UK’s society and economy.

ESRC Society Today is only one channel 
in the overall ESRC marketing mix and 
not a stand-alone initiative, or simply 
another publication output by the ESRC
communications team; it embodies the 
efforts of a very wide range of actors, from
ESRC-funded researchers and major
investments, government departments,
journalists, other funding bodies and third
parties and, of course, ESRC staff. 

Highest quality of social science research
The ESRC portal pulls together a number 
of different content strands to provide users
with the most relevant format and level of
information for their specific needs. 

In addition to an awards and outputs database
containing in excess of 9,000 awards and
more than ten times that number of outputs
(around 100,000 records), the service also
provides an aggregate view of non-ESRC
funded content, from a variety of high quality
social science sources. These include academic
institutions, publishers, funding organisations
and government researchers. 

We specifically commission non-technical
summaries of research, news articles,
interviews and opinion pieces from prominent
journalists to humanise and contextualise
what is happening at the cutting edge of
research for the broadest possible audience,
whilst maintaining the underlying scientific
value of the investment. 

Popular sections, such as the ‘Facts and
Figures’, continue to evolve, providing
snapshots of the current state of play across 
a range of subjects both in the UK and
internationally. 
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Visit our website at:
http://www.esrcsocietytoday.ac.uk

Engagement with users of social science
Since its launch, the site has provided award
holders with easier access to update their own
information, allowing them to directly
promote the outcomes of their work. User
and community feedback continuously forms
the development schedule for the service. 

The last year has enabled us to incorporate
substantial enhancements to the way in which
the powerful search technology behind the
site works, seen the service embrace the world
of Open Access, and introduced audience
specific channels to contextually encourage
uptake of ESRC research output and impact
based on different stakeholder groups.

Over the next year we will develop more
content services aimed directly at key
communities such as business in order to
support ESRC knowledge transfer and
economic impact strategies. 

Working with partners across higher
education we will aim to improve in-depth
links and ensure access to important data and
research resources that serve the sector. We
will build on our own repository of social
science, our awards and outputs, to improve
accessibility of the individual research
projects and overall increase the prominence
of ESRC funded research, thereby supporting
the key research challenges.

Dissemination of knowledge from 
the social sciences
In its first year the website received
approximately 1.5 million visits from three
quarters of a million people, serving over 
40 million pages of content. In its second
year, visits numbered 3.5 million, from 
1.6 million users, to 70 million pages of
content. All in all, this represents a
substantially greater increase than had been
projected and indicates that the service is
growing from strength to strength.
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Vital Statistics

Who’s Who at the ESRC

Research

Data and Methods

International 

Training

Knowledge Transfer

ESRC Society Toady

Expenditure
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Financial and other information 

1 The Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) is an independent executive Non-Departmental Body established
by Royal Charter in 1965 for the promotion of social science research. The Charter was subsequently amended in
1994 in the light of the Science White Paper Realising Our Potential.

2 The ESRC is funded primarily through grant in aid from the Office of Science and Innovation (OSI), which is part 
of the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI).

Principal objectives

3 The Economic and Social Research Council’s mission is to:

• promote and support by any means high-quality basic, strategic and applied research and related postgraduate
training in the social sciences

• advance knowledge and provide trained social scientists who meet the need of users and beneficiaries, thereby
contributing to the economic competitiveness of the United Kingdom, the effectiveness of public services and
policy, and the quality of life

• provide advice on, and disseminate knowledge and promote public understanding of, the social sciences.

4 ESRC’s strategic objectives are:

• to maximise new research opportunities by supporting social science of the highest quality

• to create research opportunities by identifying and pursuing new challenges for social science research

• to strengthen our future research by training the next generation of social scientists and ensuring the health 
of social science disciplines

• to provide the data and methods needed to meet future social science challenges

• to engage with stakeholders by a full range of knowledge transfer and communication activities

• to improve our performance on the basis of robust measurement

• to maximise our participation in International research aimed at answering major social science questions.

5 In order for ESRC to meet these objectives its work is organised in four areas:

• Research: to fund cutting-edge and excellent research that focuses on pushing back the frontiers of science 
and on areas of major national importance.

• Capacity: to ensure the availability of sufficient first class capacity, including expert researchers, data and
methodology, for the UK to undertake top class social science.

• Engagement: to communicate research findings as widely as possible, to engage with our key stakeholders 
and to get research into practice.

• Performance: to evaluate the quality and impact of our funded research and perform our work efficiently 
and effectively.

Risk

6 ESRC has adopted a risk management strategy, in line with the recommendations of the Turnbull Report and to 
widen the scope of central government assurance statements. Controls and risk bearing therefore relate to all aspects
of management, not purely financial matters.

7 It is ESRC’s view that it should demonstrate leadership in the quest for innovation and in the setting of strategies to
achieve it. Innovation, and the social science research which supports it, is by its nature involved with uncertainty and
hence risky outcomes. In order to seize opportunities to increase the probability of achieving its purpose ESRC has to
embrace risk enterprises. ESRC has a responsibility not just to control risk, but to ensure the proper opportunities are
created to allow the achievement of unplanned potential. ESRC therefore has a particular concern to ensure that the
framework for managing risk involves appropriate measures to promote and safeguard innovation.

8 ESRC’s capacity to handle risk and its risk and control framework can be found in ESRC’s statement on internal control.

9 ESRC’s main risks are recorded and monitored on the corporate risk register. The key corporate risks relate to the
maintenance of social science capacity, achieving excellence in commissioned research, sustaining ESRC’s reputation
and influence and effectiveness of delivery.
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10 ESRC’s corporate risk register categorises risks into risk types with the current financial risks being identified 
as follows:

• the need for additional resources from co-funding and CSR 2007 to finance adequate research under the main
research challenges identified in the ESRC Strategic Plan

• the need to attract sufficient additional resources from CSR 2007 to finance levels of studentship and new data
facilities and infrastructure essential for maintenance of the health of disciplines

• the impact of Full Economic Costing (fEC) changes leads to diminution of research, or levels of demand which
reduce overall volume of support. 

Financial review of the year 

11 The Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2007 record a net expenditure of £159,490 compared with a net
expenditure of £135,168 in 2005-06. Note 2 to the Accounts covers the change in accounting policy in respect of the
treatment of grant in aid and other funds received which has resulted in the disclosure of net expenditure as opposed
to a surplus or deficit. The Government Funds as at 31 March 2007 showed a deficit of £11,371 compared to £8,424
in 2005-06. Total grant in aid drawn down was £140,508, of which £980 was deployed on capital expenditure.
Capital expenditure was limited to refurbishment costs of the ESRC office, the purchase of survey data and minor IT
hardware and IS developments.

Research expenditure has increased to £99,824 (£85,943 2005-06), with Postgraduate Training increasing to £46,853
(£38,456 2005-06). This reflects an increase to ESRC’s budget and subsequent new investments to strengthen the
social science research base and strengthen future capacity both of which are covered earlier in the Annual Report.

Research expenditure during the year amounted to £100 million. This included the first year’s funding of grants
costed and funded within the new fEC funding framework. Such funding only relates to new awards issued during
the year on fEC terms. Detailed figures are not yet available, but based on estimates of projected fEC take up during
the year of £8.4 million, it is estimated that the value of research which attracted fEC amounted to £27.4 million,
which would have cost £18.9 million if it had been funded on under the previous basis.

Funding from other bodies has increased to £16,362 (£10,557 2005-06) reflecting an increase in collaborative
funding on research investments.

The Balance Sheet records debtors of £13,097 (£4,309 2005-06). The increase in debtors was a result of an increase in
prepayments following the payment of student grants to Higher Education Institutes (HEIs) in March that were due
in April. The pre-payment was required to enable HEIs to make the appropriate payments to students in early April
following ESRC’s change of policy in 2006-07 which led to HEIs administering student awards as opposed to ESRC.
The Balance Sheet records creditors of £41,361 compared to £20,924 in 2005-06. This increase was due to a rise in
advance receipts and accrued spend covering liabilities on research awards. 

Going concern

12 The Income and Expenditure Reserve at 31 March 2007 shows a deficit of £14,221. This reflects the inclusion of
liabilities falling due in future years which will be met by future grant in aid from the ESRC’s sponsoring
department, the DTI. This is because, under the normal conventions applying to parliamentary control over income
and expenditure, such grants may not be issued in advance of need.

13 Grant in aid for 2007-08, taking into account the amounts required to meet the ESRC’s liabilities falling due in that
year, has already been included in the department’s Estimates for that year, which have been approved by Parliament.
Longer term commitments are contained within existing funding allocations arising from Government Spending
Review settlement figures which cover up to 2007-08. ESRC financial commitments on research and training grants
beyond that period can be met well within the minimum reasonably anticipated income for those years. Such grants
issued by ESRC are made under statutory powers within the terms of the Science and Technology CT 1965, applied
upon the objects set out in Article 2 of the ESRC Royal Charter. This is confirmed in the ESRC Management
Statement issued by OSI, as renewed in August 2005. In addition, Government Accounting regulations (GA Chapter
26.3) provides HM Treasury recognition to the validity of such statutorily based liabilities entered into within the
normal course of business. 

14 A letter of comfort has been issued by OSI confirming that they fully expect the recorded deficit on the Income and
Expenditure Reserve to be extinguished over time, having regard to the resource and capital budgets to which ESRC
can be expected to have access. It has accordingly been considered appropriate to adopt a going concern basis for the
preparation of these financial statements.
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Evaluation

15 The Council places great emphasis on the evaluation of its research. The Research Evaluation Committee (REC)
works independently from the Funding Boards to evaluate the impact and quality of ESRC research through a
comprehensive review programme. The results inform Council’s strategic decision-making and guide the Boards’
investment decisions.

Project evaluations provide accountability for grant expenditure, and provide an early assessment of academic 
quality and research impact. The REC’s analysis of project evaluation results contributes to Council’s strategic
planning, provides a track record of project performance to support further funding decisions and feeds into policy
evaluation work.

Programme, network and centre evaluations assess academic achievements and contributions to fields of study, impact
on policymakers and practitioners, and the effectiveness of capacity development and research training. The results feed
into the design of new phases of research and contribute to the development of research management practice.

Scheme evaluations assess the impact and effectiveness of different modes of ESRC funding. The results inform
Council’s strategy for supporting particular activities such as interdisciplinary collaborations, building new research
capacity and supporting career development in different sections of the research community. 

Impact and policy evaluations are a central feature of the evaluation system. This work includes benchmarking the
international impact of UK social science, evaluating the policy and practice impact of ESRC research and reviewing
aspects of research funding policy. The results help the Council to demonstrate the wider contribution of UK social
science and the national and international impact of its own portfolio.

Statutory basis

16 ESRC’s accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Manual (FREM) and the Accounts
Direction, issued by the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry pursuant to Section 2(2) of the Science and
Technology Act 1965 and as revised in 2001 and 2007. The accounts follow best commercial practice having due
regard to the Council’s status. 

17 Details of the senior members of the ESRC who are responsible for the direction of the entity are set out in the
Remuneration Report.

Payment policy

18 ESRC observes the Confederation of British Industry’s Code of Practice. The Council adheres to the principles of the
Prompt Payers Code, and makes every effort to ensure compliance with the agreed terms of payment of creditors’
invoices. An analysis of the Council’s 2006-07 payment performance indicated that 95 per cent (2005-06 95 per cent)
of invoices were paid in accordance with agreed contractual conditions or where no conditions existed, within 30 days
of the presentation of a valid invoice.

Equal opportunities

19 The ESRC’s policy on recruitment and selection is based on the ability of a candidate to perform the job regardless 
of gender, colour, ethnic or national origin, disability, age (up to the current retirement age of 60), marital status,
sexual orientation or religion. Full and fair consideration is given to applications for employment from the disabled
where they have the appropriate skills to perform the job. If disablement should occur during employment the ESRC
would make every effort to maintain employment and to ensure the availability of adequate retraining and career
development facilities.

Employee involvement

20 Information is provided to employees through the staff handbook, office notices, email and the intranet. Consultation
with employees takes place through meetings of senior staff, the Joint Negotiating Consultative Committee, through
bilateral, directorate, sectional meetings, and through working groups set up to look at specific organisational issues,
and where appropriate through all-staff meetings.

21 ESRC disseminates financial information by issuing reports to Council, to the senior management team and to
budget holders. Successful spending review bids and budgetary information are detailed in the Social Sciences
publication, press notices and the Annual Report, all of which have a wide circulation.

22 All staff receive personal copies of the ESRC Operating Plan, and are then involved in developing and implementing
directorate and personal objectives which flow from the Plan.
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23 In February 1999 ESRC was recognised as an ‘Investor in People’ (IiP). The development of staff consultation and
communication was an important element in the process involved in IiP, and ESRC will seek to develop these further
as it embeds more deeply the IiP culture and approach. ESRC was successfully re-assessed in October 2003 with the
next review now scheduled for November 2007. 

24 Details of the Research Councils Pension Scheme (RCPS) are set out in Note 4 to the Accounts and details of the
salary and pensions benefits of senior employees are included in the Remuneration Report.

Health and Safety

25 The ESRC policy is to set and maintain high standards of health and safety performance so as to ensure the health and
safety of staff as well as that of others who may work in or visit the premises. To achieve this ESRC has a Health
Safety Policy Statement signed by the Chief Executive, the Trade Union Health and Safety representative and the
ESRC’s Health and Safety advisor. The policy covers responsibilities, competencies, risks, controls, the provision of
advice, performance measurement and staff consultation. The policy is accessible to all staff through ESRC’s intranet
along with all health and safety guidance and procedures. ESRC also has a Health and Safety committee whose role is
to review the adequacy of safety training and the supply of information, consider accident statistics and safety audit
reports and to help the ESRC’s Health and Safety advisor carry out his/her duties. 

Environmental Policy

26 ESRC is committed to following the joint Research Council environmental policy statement which calls for:

• compliance with all relevant legislation

• minimise the adverse impacts of new buildings, refurbishments

• make efficient use of natural resources

• operate effective arrangements for waste disposal and recycling

• promote effective environmental supply management

• work with staff to promote more economic forms of transport

• provide appropriate information and training to new staff.

Audit Committee

27 ESRC’s audit committee is constructed of three members of Council plus two external co-opted members from the
commercial or scientific community. The Chairman of the committee is a member of Council who is not the chair of
any other Board but the current Chairman does chair the Research Evaluation Committee. The Committee meets at
least three times a year to review internal and external audit matters, to generally consider Corporate Governance
issues including the quality of internal control systems and to review the ESRC’s accounts.

Auditors

28 The internal auditors of ESRC are the Research Council Internal Audit Service with an audit plan being agreed and
undertaken each year. 

29 The accounts of the ESRC are audited by the Controller and Auditor General under the terms of paragraph 3(3) of
Schedule 1 of the Science and Technology Act 1965. The audit fee covering 2006-07 was £36,000. There was no
auditor remuneration for non-audit work.

30 So far as the Accounting Officer is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the ESRC’s auditors are
unaware. The Accounting Officer has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that ESRC’s auditors are aware of that information.

Post Balance Sheet Events

31 There were no Post Balance Sheet events between the balance sheet date and 9 July 2007, the date when the
Accounting Officer despatched the accounts to the Office of Science and Innovation. The financial statements do not
reflect events after this date. 
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Remuneration Report 2006-07
32 This report has been prepared in accordance with schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985 inserted by the Directors’

Remuneration Report Regulations 2002.

Remuneration policy

33 The remuneration of the Chief Executive of ESRC is decided by a Remuneration Panel chaired by the Director
General of the Research Councils and approved by the DTI Permanent Secretary.

34 The performance of Directors is assessed annually by the Chief Executive and the Chair though the staff performance
management process. In the light of these assessments performance related pay is made in accordance with provisions
of the pay remit approved by the DTI. There is no separate Remuneration Committee that considers the pay of senior
staff.

35 The remuneration of ESRC’s Council members and Chairman is reviewed annually by the OSI.

Contractual policy

36 The Chief Executive is contracted for the period 1 January 2003 to 31 December 2010 with all Directors being
permanent employees of the ESRC. The Chief Executive and all Directors are subject to a notice period of three
months and any compensation awarded for early termination is subject to the terms and conditions of the Research
Council’s Joint Superannuation Early Severance Scheme. Council members and Chairman are not employees of the
ESRC and receive a letter of appointment from the DTI. The terms of appointment allow for members to resign from
office by notice in writing to the Secretary of State. Members may also be removed from office by the Secretary of
State on grounds of incapacity or misbehaviour or a failure to observe the terms and conditions of appointment. 
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Audited Information

Salary and pension entitlements

37 The following section provides details of the remuneration and pension interests of the Chief Executive, Directors and ESRC Council members.

Chief Executive and Directors

Name

Age at 31 March 2007

Sex

Service to 31 March 2007 (years)

Salary paid 2006-07 (£k)

% increase in salary from 2005-06

Benefits in kind

Real increase in pension at 60 (£)

Related lump sum 
at 31 March 2007 (£)

Total annual accrued pension 
at 60 at 31 March 2007 (£)

Cash equivalent of transfer values 
at 31 March 2006 (£)

Cash equivalent of transfer values 
at 31 March 2007 (£)

Real increase in cash equivalent 
of transfer values (£)

Pension provider

Director

Drs. Astrid Wissenburg

40

Female

3

55-60 (50-55)

7.5%

– (–)

1,114
(1,003)

–
(–)

3,531
(2,334)

27,415
(11,109)

40,108

10,528
(9,822)

RCPS

Director

Mr Adrain Alsop

50

Male

18

60-65 (50-55)

7.5%

– (–)

1,603
(1,637)

63,166
(56,329)

21,055
(18,776)

336,567
(237,069)

372,809

27,467
(28,488)

RCPS

Director

Mr Glyn Davies

59

Male

35

70-75 (60-65)

7%

– (–)

1,862
(1,815)

93,054
(84,430)

31,018
(28,143)

670,026
(520,661)

746,518

43,757
(42,247)

RCPS

Chief Executive

Professor Ian Diamond

53

Male

4

100-105 (105-110)*

6%

– (–)

2,599
(2,961)

–
(–)

42,586
(38,597)

641,488
(470,002)

705,053

39,473
(45,854)

RCPS

Remuneration and pensions interests for Chief Executive and Directors for 2006-07 (comparative figures for 2005-06 
shown in brackets)

* includes residual relocation allowances.

38 Salary paid in 2006-07 includes gross salary; performance pay or bonuses; overtime; recruitment and retention allowances and any other
allowance to the extent that it is subject to UK taxation.

Pensions

39 Details of the Research Councils’ Pension Scheme (RCPS) is included in Note 4 to the Accounts.

40 The Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits
accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures include the value
of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the Research Councils’ pension arrangements
and for which the Civil Service Vote has received a transfer payment commensurate with the additional pension liabilities being assumed.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. 
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41 The real increase in the value of the CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from
another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Council members remuneration

42 Council members and chairman receive an honorarium in recognition of their service to ESRC, together with a refund
of their reasonable expenses. The rate of honorarium is set by OSI. Council members are not employees of ESRC and
the appointments are not pensionable. Members of Council who are civil servants are not entitled to receive an
honorarium.

43 The following table details the period of appointment covering each Council member along with the remuneration
received in 2006-07. 

Name

Ms Frances Cairncross – Chairman

Professor Alan Alexander – Chair, Resources Board

Professor Patricia Broadfoot 

Ms Helen Dent

Professor Fiona Devine – Chair, International Advisory Group

Professor Charlie Jeffery – Chair, Strategic Research Board

Mr Paul Johnson

Professor Michael Lamb

Professor Andrew Pettigrew – Chair, Audit Committee and Research
Evaluation Committee 

Professor Carol Propper – Chair, Research Grants Board

Professor Judith Rees – Chair, Training and Development Board

Professor Alison Richard

Lord Adair Turner

Mr David Walker

Mr Andrew Winckler

Period of 
Appointment

07-04-01 – 31-03-07

01-08-03 – 31-07-08

01-08-01 – 31-07-06

01-08-03 – 31-07-07

31-01-03 – 31-07-07

01-08-05 – 31-07-08

01-08-02 – 31-07-08

01-08-06 – 31-07-09

21-10-04 – 20-10-08

01-08-05 – 31-07-08

01-08-04 – 31-07-07

01-08-04 – 31-07-07

01-08-03 – 31-03-07

01-02-07 – 31-07-09

01-08-03 – 05-07-06

Remuneration
£k

15-20 (15-20)

5-10 (5-10)

0-5 (5-10)

5-10 (5-10)

5-10 (5-10)

5-10 (–)

– (–)

0-5 (–)

5-10 (5-10)

5-10 (5-10)

5-10 (5-10)

5-10 (5-10)

5-10 (5-10)

0-5 (–)

0-5 (5-10)

Ian Diamond
Accounting Officer

28 June 2007

Remuneration for council members for 2006-07 comparative figures for 2005-06 shown in brackets
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Accounts

Statement of Council’s and Chief Executive’s Responsibilities
Under paragraph three of Schedule 1 to the Science and Technology Act 1965 the Council is required to prepare a
statement of account for each financial year in the form and on the basis directed by the Secretary of State for Trade and
Industry with the consent of the Treasury. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must show a true and fair
view of the Council’s state of affairs at the year end and of its income, expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Government
Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• observe the accounts direction issued by the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have been
followed and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Council will
continue in operation.

The Accounting Officer for the Department of Trade and Industry has designated the Chief Executive of the Economic
and Social Research Council as the Accounting Officer for the ESRC. The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer,
including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which he is answerable, for the keeping
of proper records and for safeguarding the Council’s assets, are set out in the ‘Non-Departmental Public Bodies’
Accounting Officer Memorandum’, issued by HM Treasury and published in “Government Accounting” (HMSO).

Statement on Internal Control

Scope of responsibility

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of ESRC’s policies, aims and objectives, as approved by Council, whilst safeguarding the public funds 
and ESRC assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Government Accounting.

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure
to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to
the achievement of ESRC’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal
control, endorsed by Council in June 2002, has been in place in ESRC for the year ended 31 March 2007 and up to the
date of approval of the annual report and accounts, and accords with HM Treasury guidance.

Capacity to handle risk

ESRC has a risk champion at director level who co-ordinates and leads on risk issues. Risk champions have also been
appointed at directorate level who have a similar devolved responsibility. It is ESRC’s policy to assign responsibilities to
staff with appropriate skills to manage risk aspects of their work. ESRC’s core business involves the commissioning of
research, and research training, and ESRC operates a risk management framework which draws upon engagement of
expert advice from leading members of UK and international research, and user communities across the UK. This is
applied extensively to underpin ESRC scientific decision making.
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Risk and control framework

Under the policy approved by Council, ESRC’s framework embeds risk management via:

• Council itself, which approves the risk policy and oversees the framework and high level risks 

• Council’s Audit Committee, which assesses risk management processes and reports to Council

• the Chief Executive and directors of the major functions, who are responsible for identifying and managing risks

• devolved risk management responsibilities held by staff within the directorates.

General risk awareness training has been provided to over 90 per cent of ESRC staff with more detailed training in risk
assessment and management being provided to the directorate risk champions which has extended the skill base across
ESRC. This group meets regularly to share issues and consider ways of continuously developing and enhancing the risk
management framework. 

There are also regular weekly directors and monthly senior management team meetings, which include discussion of risk
aspects of ongoing and new business developments. Risk reporting routines and reviews have been enhanced so that
monthly directorate reports on current work to the senior management team are supported by formal risk analyses. 

ESRC operates largely within a low risk environment where the bulk of operational expenditure occurs within the higher
education environment, which largely operates within a control framework subject to public sector oversight. ESRC has
established a register of risks and these risks have been evaluated, to include consideration of the desired level of risk
appetite having regard to ESRC strategies and priorities; controls have been assessed and responsibilities for management
of risks assigned at various levels. 

The key corporate risks covered by the strategy relate to maintenance of social science research capacity, achieving
excellence in commissioned research, sustaining ESRC’s reputation and influence and effectiveness of delivery. 

Principal processes in place for identifying, evaluating, and managing risk are:

• maintenance of a corporate risk register 

• regular review of risks by the directors/senior management team

• establishment of directorate risk registers

• development project proposals incorporate risk evaluations, and implementation plans include risk registers 
to manage project risks

• progress reports to the directors/senior management team on progress against key projects

• annual stewardship returns and reports from ESRC directors on their operation of devolved systems and 
management of risk

• peer review processes covering the conduct of ESRC core business of commissioning of research

• ESRC scientific advisory board papers include explicit reference to risk assessments

• annual validation procedures (within the finance assurance programme) conducted on a Cross Council basis to 
oversee the regularity of research expenditure at research Institutions

• monitoring/reporting arrangements on business critical projects: UK Household Longitudinal Study. This project 
will establish a major new longitudinal study of the UK population across 40,000 households

• a new major element relates to venture funding where new procedures in 2006-07 include the requirement for a 
risk assessment for all proposals put to directors. 

Steps are also in hand to further develop structures, processes and controls to improve management of risk ie:

• further development of directorate and Initiative risk registers and linkages including continual assessment of the
financial control environment

• corporate project management guidance.

In addition, the Cross Research Council Finance Management Group (FMG) developed a collective financial risk register
which is now being managed at a cross council level. This provides for an additional dimension of risk management in
terms of identification and management of risks and cross council consistency and bench marking. This register is
expected to be regularly reviewed and updated at a Cross Council level.
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ESRC has a business continuity plan and a business continuity team made up of key personnel from each of ESRC’s
business and support areas.

To facilitate consideration of potential threats to business continuity, and integration with cross-council and IT-specific
disaster recovery plans, risks have been grouped into the following categories:

• disruption of Non-IT infrastructure

• disruption of IT infrastructure

• information systems. 

A number of different scenarios, under each of these headings, have been identified and analysed. Where applicable,
specific contingency arrangements and disaster recovery strategies have been determined for incidents.

The following elements of the plan have been identified as critical and are tested and reviewed on a regular (at least
annual) basis:

• emergency response

• disaster recovery

• contingency arrangements.

The business continuity plan has been approved at senior management team (SMT) level, by the Chief Executive’s
Directors’ Group, and has also received the endorsement of ESRC’s Audit Committee. It will be subject to independent
review, on a regular basis, by the Research Councils’ internal audit service.

Review of effectiveness

As Accounting Officer, I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by:

• regular reports by ESRC’s internal audit including the Head of Internal Audit’s independent opinion on the adequacy
and effectiveness of ESRC systems of internal control

• the executive managers within ESRC who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework, and who provide annual reports on their stewardship and management of risk

• comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports

• the Audit Committee’s review of internal controls and risk management processes

• research award validation procedures which provide assurance on the regularity of research project expenditure at
Universities and other research bodies.

I have been advised by the Council and the Audit Committee on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control. A plan is in place to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system.

Ian Diamond
Accounting Officer

28 June 2007
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The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General 
to the Houses of Parliament
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Economic and Social Research Council for the year ended 
31 March 2007 under the Science and Technology Act 1965. These comprise the Statement of Net Expenditure, the
Balance Sheet, the Cash flow Statement and Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. I have also audited 
the information in the Remuneration Report that is described in that report as having being audited.

Respective responsibilities of the Council, Chief Executive and Auditor

The Council and Chief Executive as Accounting Officer are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Remuneration
Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Science and Technology Act 1965 and Secretary of State for Trade
and Industry directions made thereunder and for ensuring the regularity of financial transactions. These responsibilities are
set out in the Statement of Council’s and Chief Executive’s Responsibilities.

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the remuneration report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Science and Technology Act 1965 and Secretary of State for Trade and Industry directions made thereunder. I report to
you whether, in my opinion, certain information given in the Annual Report, which comprises of the Statement by the
Chair and Chief Executive, Members of Council, Audit Committee, Senior Staff and Financial and Other Information
sections is consistent with the financial statements. I also report whether in all material respects the expenditure and
income have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them. 

In addition, I report to you if the Economic and Social Research Council has not kept proper accounting records, if I have
not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit, or if information specified by HM Treasury
regarding remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

I review whether the Statement on Internal control reflects the Economic and Social Research Council’s compliance with
HM Treasury’s guidance, and I report if it does not. I am not required to consider whether this statement covers all risks
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Economic and Social and Research Council’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

I read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
financial statements. I consider the implications for my report if I become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. My responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. My audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts, disclosures and
regularity of financial transactions included in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be
audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Council and Accounting
Officer in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are most appropriate to the
Economic and Social Research Council’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which I considered necessary in
order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error, and that in all
material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall adequacy 
of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited.
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Opinions

Audit opinion

In my opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with the Science and Technology Act 1965 and
directions made thereunder by the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry, of the state of Council’s affairs as at 
31 March 2007 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended

• the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Science and Technology Act 1965 and Secretary of State for Trade and Industry directions made
thereunder

• information given within the Annual Report, which comprises of the the Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive,
Members of Council, Audit Committee, Senior Staff and Financial and Other Information sections is consistent with
the financial statements.

Audit opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Report

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

5 July 2007

John Bourn
Comptroller and Auditor General
National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London SW1W 9SP
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All activities are continuing.

Statement of net expenditure

Expenditure

Staff and Council members’ costs

Research

Postgraduate training

Knowledge transfer

Other operating costs

Net operating costs before financing

Interest receivable

Notional cost of capital 

Net expenditure for the year

Income and expenditure reserve b/f

Grant in aid received

Funding received from other bodies

Transfer to I&E - depreciation

Transfer of earmarked funds

Net expenditure for the year

Reversal of notional cost of capital

I&E reserve c/f

Notes

4

5

6

7

8

14

15

15

3

15

15

15

15

15

2006-07

£000

4,514

99,824

46,853

2,306

6,622

160,119

(5)

(624)

159,490

(10,557)

140,508

16,362

49

(469)

(159,490)

(624)

(14,221)

2005-06
_-Restated (Note 2)

£000

4,082

85,943

38,456

1,279

5,762

135,522

(2)

(352)

135,168

(497)

114,864

10,557

41

(2)

(135,168)

(352)

(10,557)
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Fixed assets

Tangible assets

Intangible assets

Current assets

Debtors and prepayments

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Provision for liabilities and charges

Capital and reserves

Income and expenditure reserve

Earmarked reserve

Revaluation reserve

Total government funds

Notes

9 (a)

9 (b)

11

17

12

13

15

15

15

15

2006-07

£000 £000

4,990

849

5,839

13,097

11,136

24,233

(41,361)

(17,128)

(11,289)

(82)

(11,371)

(14,221)

516

2,334

(11,371)

2005-06
_-Restated (Note 2)

£000

4,937

573

5,510

4,309

2,836

7,145

(20,924)

(13,779)

(8,269)

(155)

(8,424)

(10,557)

47

2,086

(8,424)

Balance sheet as at 31 March 2007

Ian Diamond
Accounting Officer

28 June 2007
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2007

Statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 March 2007

Net cash outflow from operating activities

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

Interest received

Capital expenditure

Payments to acquire fixed assets

Net cash outflow before financing

Financing

Grant in aid received

Funding received from other bodies

Increase / (Decrease) in cash in the year

Notes

16

17

2005-06
_-Restated (Note 2)

£000

(132,074)

2

(649)

(132,721)

114,864

10,557

(7,300)

2006-07

£000

(147,595)

5

(980)

(148,570)

140,508

16,362

8,300

Net expenditure

Capital grant in aid received

Revenue grant in aid received

Funding received from other bodies

Reversal of notional cost of capital

Other recognised gains and losses on revaluation of land and buildings

Total losses recognised in year

Notes

15

15

3

14

15

2005-06
_-Restated (Note 2)

£000

(135,168)

649

114,215

10,557

(352)

471

(9,628)

2006-07

£000

(159,490)

980

139,528

16,362

(624)

297

(2,947)
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of land and buildings.

ESRC has received a Direction on the form of its Accounts issued by the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry. Subject to the exemptions specified
in that Direction, the accounts meet the accounting and disclosure requirements of the Companies Act 1985 and the accounting standards issued or
adopted by the Accounting Standards Board so far as these requirements are appropriate in accordance with the Financial Reporting (FREM). The
ESRC is exempted from producing a note of historical cost profits and losses normally required by Financial Reporting Standard Number 3.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently except for the change in the treatment of the receipt of funding for revenue and general capital
purchases which is now treated as a financing inflow and credited directly to reserves rather than being recognised in income for the year (see Note 2).

(b) Fixed assets and depreciation/amortisation 

Capital expenditure includes the purchase of land, buildings, equipment and intangible assets such as licences to the value of £1,000 or more.

Intangible and tangible fixed assets are included at cost or at valuation. The basis of valuation for land and buildings is open market value for
existing use. Land and buildings are professionally valued every five years. In the intervening period relevant indices are used. Any surplus or
deficit arising on revaluation is taken to the Revaluation Reserve, except that any permanent diminution in value is charged to the Income and
Expenditure Account in the year in which it is recognised. Increased depreciation charges arising from the revaluation are matched by annual
transfers from the Revaluation Reserve to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.

In the opinion of the ESRC there is no material difference between the historic and current cost values of the computing and office equipment.
Accordingly these assets have not been revalued and this position has been kept under review.

Provision is made for depreciation/amortisation on tangible and intangible fixed assets, except land, at rates calculated to write off the costs or the
valuation of each asset to its estimated residual value evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:

Freehold buildings 60 years

Office and computing equipment 3-10 years

Data licences 5-10 years

The useful economic life of assets is reviewed regularly and where a valuation has provided a more accurate assessment this has been used.

Significant fixed asset acquisitions are depreciated from the month of purchase. Other additions are depreciated by a full year in the year of acquisition.

(c) Ownership of equipment or facilities purchased with Council grants

Equipment or facilities purchased by an institution with research grant funds supplied by the ESRC belong to the institution and are not
included in ESRC’s fixed assets. Through the conditions of the grant applied to funded institutions, the ESRC reserves the right to determine how
such equipment or facilities shall be disposed of and how any disposal proceeds are to be utilised.

(d) Parliamentary grant in aid and other funding

Grant in aid for revenue and general capital purposes should be credited to the Income and expenditure reserve and grant in aid for the purchase
of specific assets should be credited to the Government Grant Reserve and released to the Statement of Net Expenditure over the useful life of the
asset in amounts equal to the annual depreciation charge (see Note 2). The receipt of funds from other bodies is also treated as detailed above
unless goods and services are provided to the entity giving the funding.

(e) Research and development

As a research funding organisation, the ESRC’s research and development expenditure is charged to the Statement of Net Expenditure when 
it is incurred.

The ownership of the intellectual property arising from a research project is made clear from the outset. Normally this rests with the university 
or institution receiving the ESRC award, unless stated to the contrary. Where there are material returns from intellectual property rights from 
an ESRC supported award, ESRC reserves the right to reclaim up to one third of the total, up to the value of its original award. Recoveries are
credited to the Statement of Net Expenditure when received. Future intellectual property rights arising from the ESRC’s research and
development have not been included in the accounts as their value in terms of future income is not material and unpredictable.

(f) Operating leases

An operating lease existed covering ESRC’s rental obligations on a London office (see Note 13). There were no finance leases.
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(g) Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate ruling at the time of the transaction. All gains and losses arising from exchange
differences are taken to the Statement of Net Expenditure.

(h) Value added tax

The ESRC is partially exempt for VAT purposes. All expenditure and fixed asset purchases are shown inclusive of VAT where applicable. Residual
input tax reclaimable by the application of the partial exemption formula is taken to the Statement of Net Expenditure as a sundry item.

(i) Research grants

ESRC policy is to accrue for the costs of work undertaken at Higher Education Institutions at Balance Sheet date which remain unpaid by ESRC
at that date. Future commitments in respect of costs of work yet to be undertaken within approved cash limits at the Balance Sheet date are
disclosed in Note 18.

(j) Pensions and early severance costs

Payments are made to the Research Councils’ pension schemes in respect of superannuation benefits for ESRC staff.

(k) Notional cost of capital

The financing structure of ESRC does not include specific interest bearing debt but to ensure that the Statement of Net Expenditure bears an
appropriate charge for the use of capital in the business in the year, a notional interest charge is included. In accordance with Treasury guidance,
the calculation is based on a 3.5 per cent rate of return on average net assets employed at cost or at valuation, and the capital charge is written
back to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.

(l) Derivatives and other financial instruments

Financial Reporting Standard Number 13, Derivatives and other Financial Instruments, requires disclosure of the role which financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the largely non-trading nature
of its activities, and the way in which government bodies are financed, ESRC is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Moreover, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk that would be typical of the listed companies
to which FRS 13 mainly applies. ESRC has very limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and except for relatively insignificant forward
purchases of foreign currency, financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities and are not held to change the risks
facing ESRC in undertaking its activities.

Liquidity risk – ESRC’s net revenue resource requirements are financed by resources voted annually by Parliament, and administered as grant in aid
through the Office of Science and Innovation, just as its capital expenditure largely is. ESRC is not therefore exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Interest-rate risk – All of ESRC’s financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. ESRC is not therefore exposed to significant
interest-rate risk.

Foreign currency risk – ESRC’s exposure to foreign currency risk is not significant. Foreign currency income is negligible and foreign currency
expenditure at less than 1 per cent of total expenditure is not significant.

(m) Earmarked reserve

The earmarked reserve has two components and relates to: (i) funds received by ESRC as beneficiary of a will that can only be used for specified
purposes; (ii) deposits received from international bodies for specific future research investment. Any income earned is transferred to the reserve
from the general fund.

(n) Sustainability funding

In 2005-06, ESRC acted as an agent for DTI/OSI in distributing sustainability funding of £141 million on behalf of all Research Councils. This
funding represented an initial contribution from the Science Programme towards the start up of the new Full Economic Cost Research Funding
Framework. ESRC’s cash Grant in Aid was supplemented by £141 million to provide this funding, which was distributed to HEIs on a pro rata
basis determined by the level of Research Council research grant funding provided to each HEI in 2003-04. As the £141,000,000 has been
treated by DTI/OSI and received by ESRC as grant in aid the amount has been disclosed in Note 2. However, as the DTI/OSI is accountable for
the £141,000,000 through the DTI Resource Account and ESRC has acted as an agent only, the funding and expenditure has not been included
in ESRC’s Income and Expenditure Account but as a note to the Accounts. 
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2. Parliamentary grant in aid and prior year adjustment
In 2006-07, the accounting treatment of grant in aid has changed such that non-departmental public bodies should regard grants and grant in 
aid received for revenue purposes as contributions from controlling parties giving rise to a financial interest in the body. As a result, grant in aid
received for revenue purposes is credited to the Income and Expenditure Reserve rather than being recognised as income in the Income and
Expenditure Account for the year. As a result the Income and Expenditure Account now shows net expenditure for the year rather than a surplus 
or deficit and has consequently been renamed ‘Statement of Net Expenditure’. Grant in aid for capital purposes is only credited to the Government
Grant Reserve if it is for the purchase of a specific asset with all other capital grant in aid credited to the Income and Expenditure reserve.

The presentation of the comparative figures has been restated as a result and a prior year adjustment made to transfer capital grant in aid for
general purposes from the Government Grant Reserve to the Income and Expenditure Reserve (see Note 15).

All Capital grant in aid related to purchase of fixed assets in general and has therefore been credited in full to the income and expenditure reserve.

The receipt of funds from other bodies is also treated as detailed above unless goods and services are provided to the entity giving the funding. 
As a result funds previously recorded as other income have been treated as financing in the year and the comparative period has been restated.

The funding above has been treated as financing in the year and the comparative period has been restated (Note 2).

Capital grant in aid

Revenue grant in aid

Amount provided for sustainability funding (Note 1 n)

Amount provided for sustainability funding (Note 1 n)

Grant in aid credited to income and expenditure reserve

2005-06
£000

649

114,215

141,000

(141,000)

114,864

2006-07
£000

980

139,528

–

–

140,508

Contributions from government departments

Contributions from non-departmental public bodies

Contributions from other bodies

3. Funding received from other bodies
2005-06

£000

3,771

6,663

123

10,557

2006-07
£000

3,439

12,275

648

16,362

Salaries and wages

Social security costs

Superannuation

Council members' remuneration 

4. (a) Staff costs
2005-06

£000

3,145

195

593

149

4,082

2006-07
£000

3,491

209

656

158

4,514



93

Notes to the Accounts

4. (c) Superannuation
The employees of the Council are members of the Research Councils’ Pension Schemes (RCPS) which are defined benefit schemes funded from
annual grant in aid on a pay as you go basis. The benefits are by analogy to the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme, except that while the
schemes provide retirement and related benefits based on final emoluments, redundancy and injury benefits are administered and funded
by the Council.

The scheme is administered by the Research Councils’ Joint Superannuation Services with the associated grant in aid managed by the
Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC). The schemes’ accounts are prepared by BBSRC, on behalf of the BBSRC
Chief Executive as the Accounting Officer for the RCPS. A separate Account is published for the Pension Schemes. Employees’ contributions to
the scheme are set at 3.5 per cent. The employer’s contribution is agreed by the RCPS Board of Management on the recommendation of the
Government Actuary’s Department and is set at 21.3 per cent of pensionable pay.

The RCPS is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme but ESRC is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities.
A full actuarial valuation was carried out on 31 March 2006 with results being announced in 2007-08. The valuation carried out on 31 March
2002 which changed the rate from 10.1 per cent to 21.3 per cent from 1 April 2005 therefore apply to these accounts. Details are available in the
accounts of the Research Councils Pension Scheme.

For 2006-2007, employer’s contributions of £652,582 were payable to the RCPS (2005-2006 £593,161) at 21.3 per cent of pensionable pay, based
on the salary bands. Employer contributions are to be reviewed every four years following a full scheme valuation by the Government Actuary. 
The contribution rates reflect benefits as they are accrued, not when the costs are actually incurred, and reflect past experience of the scheme.

4. (b) Staff numbers
The average number of staff employed during the year was 122 full time equivalent. 

At any one time there were up to 13 temporary agency staff covering complemented vacancies or long term absences. During the year the cost 
of temporary agency staff was £336,000 (2005-06 £231,000) and is included under salaries and wages in Note 4a.

Senior management (Chief Executive and Band 1)

Managerial (Bands 2, 3, 4)

Administrative support (Band 5)

2005-06

4

82

30

116

2006-07

4

88

30

122
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6. Postgraduate training

Advanced course studentships

Standard research studentships

Training development activities

A and E

Language based area studies

Fellowships

2006-07
£000

1,296

39,783

51

105

1,289

4,329

46,853

2005-06
£000

1,191

33,050

181

163

–

3,871

38,456

7. Knowledge transfer

Knowledge transfer awards

Knowledge transfer activities

Knowledge transfer partnerships

2006-07
£000

349

810

1,147

2,306

2005-06
£000

–

328

951

1,279

Research programmes

Research centres

Research resources

Research grants

Fellowships

Venture

DFID

Other research

International office

International subscriptions

International awards

Teaching and learning

Joint infrastructure fund

Research equipment and facilities (see Note 1c)

2005-06
£000

22,849

14,831

6,698

21,332

4,280

228

–

2,546

188

83

–

4,238

87

8,583

85,943

2006-07
£000

24,577

16,685

5,292

26,866

4,441

971

939

1,147

552

101

96

4,724

46

13,387

99,824

5. Research
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8. Other operating costs

Maintenance

Office supplies

Postage and telecommunication

Archive services

Management consultancy and other professional fees

Research evaluation and information contracts

Auditors' remuneration

Staff training and subscriptions

Publicity and distribution

Travel and subsistence

Meetings and catering

Conference costs

Recruitment

VAT/NI services

RCPO costs

Legal services/internal audit

RCUK

Miscellaneous

Depreciation and amortisation

Provision for bad and doubtful debts

2006-07
£000

667

454

125

16

445

458

36

87

2,362

394

138

16

65

9

54

89

220

47

948

(8)

6,622

2005-06
£000

546

305

72

20

555

242

34

63

2,026

389

201

15

147

9

42

60

35

152

853

(4)

5,762
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Cost/Valuation

At 1 April 2006

Additions

Revaluation

Disposals

At 31 March 2007

Depreciation

At 1 April 2006

Provided in year

Revaluation

Disposals

At 31 March 2007

Net book value

31 March 2007

31 March 2006

9. (a) Tangible fixed assets
Freehold land 
and buildings 

£000

3,069

–

215

–

3,284

–

82

(82)

–

–

3,284

3,069

IT and office
equipment

£000

5,485

492

–

(49)

5,928

3,617

654

–

(49)

4,222

1,706

1,868

Total

£000

8,554

492

215

(49)

9,212

3,617

736

(82)

(49)

4,222

4,990

4,937

The freehold land and buildings net book value relates to the Council’s share of Polaris House, Swindon. The land and buildings in totality were
professionally valued as at 31 March 2006 by Paul Powis (FRICS) of Powis Hughes Chartered Surveyors in accordance with SAVP and RICS
guidance notes on an open market value basis. The figure disclosed represents an agreed apportionment of the total valuation.

Cost

At 1 April 2006

Additions

At 31 March 2007

Amortisation

At 1 April 2006

Provided in year

At 31 March 2007

Net book value

31 March 2007

31 March 2006

9. (b) Intangible fixed assets
Data licenses

£000

741

488

1,229

168

212

380

849

573
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10. Science in Society unit
The RCUK Science in Society Unit is hosted by ESRC on behalf of the other Research Councils. The Unit’s remit covers science in schools as well
as raising public awareness and engagement in science and innovation. A key challenge for the new Unit is to promote a more collective approach
to science in society activities both between individual Research Councils and in collaboration with Government Departments, Research Council
funded academics and other key organisations.

As all expenditure will be matched by income and reflected in the accounts of other Research Councils, ESRC will post all income and expenditure
against Balance Sheet codes rather than Income and Expenditure codes. A creditor or debtor will then be recorded depending on the year-end position.

In 2006-07 the following income and expenditure were attributed to the unit on programme expenditure.

A debtor of £44 has therefore been reflected in ESRC’s 2006-07 accounts and recorded in Other Debts (Note 11).

Income

Expenditure

£000

1,076

(1,120)

(44)

11. Debtors and pre-payments

Debtors

Contributions (central government bodies)

Other debts (central government bodies)

Other debts (other bodies)

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts

Prepayments

Prepayments (other bodies)

31 March 2007
£000

2,562

51

401

3,014
(15)

2,999

10,098

13,097

31 March 2006
£000

3,946

67

49

4,062
(23)

4,039

270

4,309

12. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Research accrual (other bodies)

Advance receipts (central government bodies)

Advance receipts (other bodies)

Other (central government bodies)

Other (other bodies)

31 March 2007
£000

32,155

6,894

457

439

1,416

41,361

31 March 2006
£000

16,967

2,515

–

492

950

20,924
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13. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provision is being made for onerous rental obligations on a London office leasehold held jointly by the Research Councils. Negotiation of a 
sub-lease to a third party has left a residual lease obligation of £85,000 pa over the next seven years. ESRC’s provision allows for its share along
with other minor residual liabilities. 

As at 1 April 

Additional provisions made in year

Provisions utilised

As at 31 March

31 March 2007
£000

155

–

(73)

82

31 March 2006
£000

102

94

(41)

155

14. Notional cost of capital

Cost of capital

31 March 2007
£000

(624)

(624)

31 March 2006
£000

(352)

(352)

In accordance with Treasury guidance the cost of capital credit has been written back to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.
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As at 1 April 2006

Prior year adjustment

1 April 2006 as restated

Grant in aid received

Funding received from other bodies

Revaluation in year

Transfer to income and
expenditure – depreciation

Transfer of earmarked funds

Net expenditure for the year

Reversal of notional cost of capital

As at 31 March 2007

15. Reserves and reconciliation of movement in government funds

Total 
government funds

£000

(8,424)

–

(8,424)

140,508

16,362

297

–

–

(159,490)

(624)

(11,371)

Income and
expenditure

£000

(13,981)

3,424

(10,557)

140,508

16,362

–

49

(469)

(159,490)

(624)

(14,221)

Capital
land
£000

208

(208)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Revaluation

£000

2,086

–

2,086

–

–

297

(49)

–

–

–

2,334

Earmarked
reserve
£000

47

–

47

–

–

–

–

469

–

–

516

Government
grants reserve

£000

3,216

(3,216)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

All capital Grant in aid previously credited to the Government Grant Reserve was received for general capital purchases and has therefore been
transferred to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.

16. Reconciliation of the net operating cost before financing to net cash outflow from operating activities

Net operating costs before financing

Depreciation / amortisation charges

(Decrease) / increase in provisions

Decrease / (increase) in debtors

Increase in prepayments

Increase in creditors

Net cash outflow from operating activities

2006-07

£000

(160,119)

948

(73)

1,040

(9,828)

20,437

(147,595)

2005-06
Restated

£000

(135,522)

853

53

(920)

(14)

3,476

(132,074)
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Cash at 1 April

Increase / (decrease) in cash 

Cash at 31 March

2006-07
£000

2,836

8,300

11,136

2005-06
£000

10,136

(7,300)

2,836

18. Commitments

2007-2008

2008-2009

2009-2010

Later years

£000

117,477

73,732

38,130

23,979

253,318

Future commitments on approved research awards to Higher Education Institutions
and other approved research bodies:

(a) Research awards

2007-2008

2008-2009

Later years

£000

35,087

25,297

17,498

77,882

Future commitments on approved postgraduate awards:

(b) Postgraduate training

17. (a) Reconciliation of movement in net funds

Office of Paymaster General 

Scottish Widows 

Cash at 31 March

2006-07
£000

10,620

516

11,136

2005-06
£000

2,785

51

2,836

17. (b) Breakdown of cash balance



101

Notes to the Accounts

19. Contingent liabilities
The Council has no known material contingent liabilities (2005-06 None).

20. Related party transactions
The ESRC is a Non-Departmental Public Body (NDPB) sponsored by the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI).

DTI is regarded as a related party. During the year, ESRC has had various material transactions with the DTI and with other entities for 
which DTI is regarded as the parent Department, viz: Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council; Office of Science and Innovation;
Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council; Natural Environment Research Council; Medical Research Council; Particle Physics and
Astronomy Research Council; Council for the Central Laboratory of the Research Councils; Arts and Humanities Research Council. In addition
ESRC has had various material transactions with other Government Departments and other Central Government bodies, viz: Office for National
Statistics; Department for Education and Skills; Higher Education Funding Council for England; Scottish Executive; National Assembly for
Wales; Department of the Environment; Department of Transport; Department of Education Northern Ireland; Department for Employment
and Learning Northern Ireland; Department for International Development; HM Treasury; Office of the Deputy Prime Minister; Home Office;
Department of Works and Pensions.

These Accounts provide disclosure of all material financial transactions with those who have been defined as ‘Directors’. In the ESRC context this
has been taken to include senior executive staff, as at Section 6 of the Remuneration Report, and all Council members. In addition disclosure is
provided in respect of members of ESRC Scientific Advisory Boards, which are used to make recommendations on research and training awards. 

During the year, ESRC did not enter into any transactions with any such Directors. However it did enter into a number of material transactions
with Institutions employing Board/Council members who had no direct interest in the award concerned (Table A). None of the Board/Council
members were involved in the recommendation of awards to the Institution where they are a senior member of staff or member of the Governing
body. Under ESRC regulations the Audit Committee chairman reviews and approves all awards to Council and Board members.

Information is disclosed on material financial transactions with any related party of these senior staff, Council and Board members (Table B).

In addition, ESRC made a number of payments in respect of ESRC funded awards to Institutions where Board/Council members were the named
Principal Investigator. None of the disclosed Board/Council members were involved in the approval of awards to the Institution where they were
named as the Principal Investigator (Table C).

Council/Board Members

Professor P Broadfoot

Ms F Cairncross

Professor F Devine

Professor C Jeffrey

Professor M Lamb

Professor A Pettigrew

Professor C Propper

Professor J Rees

Table A Amount
£

113,585

6,090,218

6,551,917

3,326,263

4,027,820

1,374,352

2,448,830

4,885,464

No of Awards

1

94

82

68

63

23

74

71

Institution

University of Gloucestershire

University of Oxford

University of Manchester

University of Edinburgh

University of Cambridge

University of Bath

University of Bristol

London School of Economics
and Political Science
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Council/Board Members

Professor J Fairhead

Dr S Witherspoon

Professor J Field

Amount paid to
related party

£

279,039

488,382

5,963

No. of Awards held 
by related party

1

1

1

Related party

Wife

Husband

Partner

Table B

Council/Board Members

Professor O Attanasio

Professor G Boyne

Professor J Bremner

Professor J Brewer

Professor A Edwards

Professor B Francis

Dr V Gayle

Professor K Gilhooly

Professor G Hodgkinson

Professor J Williams

Professor S Wheeler

Professor R Walker

Professor S Virdee

Professor M Vihman

Professor C Howe

Professor C Jeffrey

Professor M Martin-Jones

Professor M Overton

Professor E Page

Professor A Pettigrew

Professor E Robinson

Professor C Sedikides

Professor M Slade

Professor R Spears

Professor P Taylor-Gooby

Aggregate 
Amount

£

311,870

62,901

84,759

35,677

2,625

231,777

22,337

16,817

141,891

27,884

2,741

48,085

53,282

132,029

31,865

60,251

60,690

62,690

2,710

6,698

59,839

51,623

21,277

89,100

590,581

No. of Awards

3

1

1

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

1

2

2

Institution

Institute for Fiscal Studies

Cardiff University

Lancaster University

University of Aberdeen

University of Oxford

Lancaster University

University of Stirling

University of Hertfordshire

University of Leeds

University of Leeds

Queens Belfast

University of Oxford

University of Glasgow

University of York

University of Cambridge

University of Edinburgh

University of Birmingham

University of Exeter

London School of 
Economics and Political Science

University of Bath

University of Warwick

University of Southampton

University of Warwick

Cardiff University

University of Kent

Table C
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